

Virginia Commonwealth University VCU Scholars Compass

Theses and Dissertations

Graduate School

2015

TOLERANCE OF THYMINE GLYCOL AT THE BLUNT DNA DOUBLE STRAND BREAK FOR NONHOMOLOGUS END JOINING REPAIR AND INTERFERENCE BY BASE EXCISION REPAIR

Sri Lakshmi Chalasani

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarscompass.vcu.edu/etd

Part of the Medicine and Health Sciences Commons

© The Author

Downloaded from

https://scholarscompass.vcu.edu/etd/3921

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at VCU Scholars Compass. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of VCU Scholars Compass. For more information, please contact libcompass@vcu.edu.

TOLERANCE OF THYMINE GLYCOL AT THE BLUNT DNA DOUBLE STRAND BREAK FOR NONHOMOLOGUS END JOINING REPAIR AND INTERFERENCE BY BASE EXCISION REPAIR

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science at Virginia Commonwealth University

By

Sri Lakshmi Chalasani

M.B.B.S, MD. NTR University of Health Sciences, 2012

Advisor: Lawrence F. Povirk, Professor, Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology

Virginia Commonwealth University

Richmond, Virginia

July, 2015

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I would like to give my heartfelt thanks to Dr. Lawrence Povirk who has made this possible for me by accepting me as his student. He is an excellent advisor providing me with constant support. Being an amateur myself in this field, I had much to learn. Dr. Povirk has had a lot of patience to train me all the while during my project. He has always been there constantly guiding me in my each and every step in the lab work. Dr. Povirk dedication to work is beyond compare. I have been immensely inspired by his knowledge and approach in science. He is a wonderful scientist and a great human being. The birthday song he played for me is which I can never forget in my life. I am more than happy to be under his guidance for these two years and looking forward for much more to learn from him in future.

My sincere thanks go to Dr. Konstantin Akopiants. He has been a great teacher explaining me everything in great detail. He has abeen a good advisor in my professional and personal matters. I really appreciate his very helpful nature. He is the person one can approach for anything and sure to get it done. I was treated as his kid with many small gifts all the time. I would say he is a valued asset. I would like to thank Dr. Matthew Hartman for his valuable advice and the great ideas regarding another project, which I could use during this project. Dr. Hartman's instantaneous approach and persistence inspired me a lot.

I could ask for no one else but my colleagues Mohammed Almohaini, Ajinkya Kawalae and Duaa Bafail. I am really fortunate to have these guys who made feel at home. Mohammed's and Ajinkya's advice over my project were really valuable. They trained me things which I could never possibly figure out by myself. They always had my back in my sad and disappointing moments and made me strong all over again. I wish them all success in whatever they enter in future. I would like to thank Dr. Tong Zhou for maintaining the lab atmosphere healthy and conducive for experiments. I would like to thank Dr. Hartman lab members, especially David for teaching me chemistry and how to use instruments.

My gratitude goes to Dr. Akbar Ali for accepting me in to the department and guiding me all through the program. I appreciate his dedication to see that his graduate students are up to date and comfortable. I am also grateful to Dr. William Dewey for his valuable advice regarding my professional career and giving me an opportunity to be a part of this wonderful department and lab in future too.

I am indeed lucky to have my friends Ajinkya, Varsha who always have been a great support in my personal and professional life here. I am indebted to my friends Wisam Toma and Madhavi Puchalapally and their loving family members, who gave me home away from home and made my survival possible here. I would also like to thank Ms. Pamela O Haney, a wonderful human being for always being there, taking me on tours and teaching me the life here.

Finally, I would like to thank my family, my mom and dad for believing in me and supporting me in whatever decision I make. The sacrifices they made put me in this position. If not for them I would stand nowhere. May GOD give them health, peace and prosperity.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of Figures	vii
List of Abbreviations	viii
Abstract	xi
I. Introduction	1
1.1 Radiotherapy	1
1.2 DNA structure and Radiation induced DNA damage	2
1.3 Double strand breaks	3
1.4 Clustered DNA damage	
1.5 Thymine Glycol	8
1.6 DNA Damage Response	11
1.7 Repair Pathway Selection	12
1.8 Homologous recombination Pathway	13
1.9 Non-homologous End Joining (NHEJ) Repair	14

1.10 NHEJ Pathway	15
1.10.1 Ku	19
1.10.2 DNA-PKcs	22
1.10.3 XRCC4 and DNA Ligase IV	25
1.10.4 XLF	28
1.11Base Excision repair pathway	31
1.12 Human EndoIII like protein (NTH) and bacterial Endonuclease III	
1.13 Klenow Fragment	34
II. Materials and Methods	36
2.1 Substrate	36
2.2 Ligation of oligomeric duplexes to the KasI/BstAPI cleaved pUC19	36
2.3 Electro elution of the modified substrate	37
2.4 Bus cell extract preparation	
2.5 End joining assays using cell extracts	
2.6 Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis	40
2.7 End joining reaction with ddTTP and Endonuclease	40
2.8 Klenow Enzymes treatment	40

2.9 End joining by the recombinant proteins
2.10 Statistics
III Results
3.1 T4 DNA ligase assay to test interference with the end joining by thymine glycol45
3.2 Ability of NHEJ to ligate the substrate with Tg5 in Bus cell extracts in the presence and absence of XLF:
3.3 Effect of Endonuclease and ddTTP on the end joining
3.4 Comparison of End Joining and Base Excision repair between Tg3 and Tg5 in cell extracts:
3.5 Assessment for fill in and ligation after BER
3.6 Effect of Tg position on total, head-head and head-tail end joining
3.7 Time dependent end joining and base excision repair of Tg3 and Tg5 plasmid60
3.8 Recombinant protein assay
IV.Discussion
V. Conclusions
References 72

LIST OF FIGURES

Fig 1.1: Schematic representation of Clustered damage in DNA by the ionizing radiation	7
Fig1.2: Formation of thymine glycol	10
Fig: 1.3: Schematic overview of NHEJ	18
Fig 1.4: Schematic representation Ku heterodimer subunits 70 and 80	21
Fig 1.5 Schematic representation of DNA PKcs	24
Fig 1.6 Schematic representation of XRCC4	.27
Fig 1.7: Schematic representation of LigaseIV	.27
Fig 1.8: Structure of the human Cernunnos/XLF protein	30
Fig. 1.9: Oxidative DNA base damage repair through BER-pathway	.33
Fig 2.1: Preparation of the substrate	42
Fig 2.2: Assay Protocol	.43
Fig 2.3: Base excision repair of the substrates	.44
Fig 3.1: T4 Ligase Assay	47
Fig 3.2: The ability of NHEJ to rejoin DSBs with Tg at the fifth position (Tg5)	.50
Fig 3.3: The effect of the ddTTP and Endonuclease on the joined fragment (44bp)	52

Fig 3.4	4: Com	parison c	of the	repair	between T	g3 and	l Tg5				54
Fig 3.5	5: Testi	ing with t	the Kl	enow	and Klenov	<i>w</i> exor	nuclease-				57
Fig	3.6:	Effect	of	Tg	position	on	total,	head-head	and	head-tail	end
joining	g:										59
Fig 3.7: Time dependent repair kinetics of Tg3 and Tg561											
Fig 3.8	8: Repa	air by the	recor	nbinaı	nt NHEJ pr	oteins	Ku, X4I	L4 and/or XL	F of Tg	g0, Tg1, Tg2	, Tg3
and Tg	g5										63

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AP	apurinic/apyrimidinic
APE1	apurinic/apyrimidinic endonuclease
ATM	ataxia telangiectasia mutated
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
ATR	ATM and rad3-related
BER	base excision repair
CtBP	C-terminal binding protein

CtIP	CtBP-interacting protein
DDR	DNA damage response
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
DNA - PK	DNA-dependent protein kinase
DNA - PKcs	DNA-dependent protein kinase catalytic subunit
dNTP	deoxynucleotides
ddTTP	dideoxythymidine
DSBs	double-strand breaks (in DNA)
EndoIII	Endonuclease III
Hr	hour(s)
HRR	homologous recombination repair
IR	ionizing radiation
MDC1	mediator of DNA damage checkpoint
μl	microliter
NHEJ	non-homologous end joining
PARP-1	poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase-1
SCID	severe combined immune-deficiency

sec	seconds
SDS	sodium dodecyl sulfate
SSBs	single-strand breaks (in DNA)
ssDNA	single-strand DNA
TBE	buffer solution mixture of Tris base, boric acid and EDTA
Tg	Thymine glycol
Tg1	Thymine glycol terminally located at double strand breaks
Tg2	Thymine glycol located at the second position of double strand breaks
Tg3	Thymine glycol located at the third position of double strand breaks
Tg5	Thymine glycol located at the fifth position of double strand breaks
V(D)J	variable, diversity, joining
XLF	XRCC4-like factor
X4L4	XRCC4 -DNA ligase IV complex
XRCC1	X-ray cross-complementation factor 1
XRCC4	X-ray cross-complementation factor 4

ABSTRACT

TOLERANCE OF THYMINE GLYCOL AT THE BLUNT DNA DOUBLE STRAND BREAK FOR NHEJ REPAIR AND INTERFERENCE BY BASE EXCISION REPAIR

By Sri Lakshmi Chalasani MD.

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science at Virginia Commonwealth University

Advisor: Lawrence F. Povirk, Professor, Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology, Virginia Commonwealth University, Richmond, Virginia

Radiotherapy is the clinical application of the ionizing radiation to treat cancer. Ionizing radiation causes multiple modes of damage to the DNA damage such as SSBs, DSBs and modified bases such as thymine glycol. These lesions can exist as clusters in one or two helical turns of DNA. DNA double-strand breaks (DSBs) are extremely toxic to cells because they can lead to genomic rearrangements and even cell death. If base lesions accompany these DSBs, there will be a substantial hindrance for repair. NHEJ is the primary DSB repair pathway in mammalian cells. HRR repairs single strand breaks (SSBs) or Double strand breaks (DSBs), during late S phase and G2 phase of the cell cycle, by using an undamaged copy of the DNA sequence, and is therefore largely error-free. The NHEJ pathway repairs DSBs without the requirement for sequence homology and can be error-free or error-prone, and is most active during G1 phase.

Thymine glycol (Tg) is the most common oxidation product of thymine. It is produced endogenously as a consequence of aerobic metabolism or via exogenous factors such as ionizing radiation (IR); it is one of the predominant types of base modifications produced by ionizing radiation. Due to clustering of radiation-induced damages, many DSBs are accompanied by damaged bases such as Tg at or near the DSB ends that may interfere with subsequent gap filling and ligation. The base excision repair pathway plays a major role in removal of thymine glycol from the damaged DNA strand. During NHEJ, after synapsis by Ku and DNAPKcs and processing of the DNA ends, XRCC4/Ligase IV complex ligates the DNA. This ligase activity is promoted by the interaction of XLF/XRCC4 filament with Ligase IV.

Linearized plasmids with Tg at the 5th -Tg5 positions from the broken end were subjected to a repair assay using XRCC4-like factor (XLF)-deficient cell extracts, with or without the addition of XLF and Endonuclease III and/or ddTTP and Klenow fragments. End joining of Tg5 was compared to plasmid with Tg at third position-Tg3 in extracts. In addition, the ability of purified NHEJ proteins Ku, DNAPKcs and XRCC4/Ligase IV, to repair the Tg1 (Tg at the end), Tg2 (Tg at the second position), Tg3 and Tg5 in the presence and absence of XLF was assessed.

The data indicated that the cell extract could ligate the Tg5 plasmids only in the presence of XLF. End joining of the Tg5 was less in comparison to Tg3 with base excision repair being more

active in Tg5 competing with the joining. Plasmids with Tg were treated with Endonuclease III and ddTTP to test whether the end joining occurred before or after Tg removal.

Endonuclease III and ddTTP treatment showed reduced intensity of the joined fragment suggesting that end joining occurred without removal of Tg in some cases. The extracts were not able to fill in the processed end by the BER though it has a 3'-OH which was filled in by the treatment with Klenow enzymes derived from E.coli DNA Polymerase I, following removal of extract proteins by proteolysis. When purified proteins were used to treat the plasmids, it is observed that there was increased efficiency of repair with increased distance of the Tg from the end may be due to less distortion of the ends as Tg is away from the end. While Tg1 and Tg2 required XLF presence for the repair, Tg3 and Tg5 could show a small amount of repair in its absence. XLF enhanced the repair of Tg3 and Tg5. While the repair by extract showed no repair in the same substrates without XLF, there was repair by purified proteins without XLF, suggesting there is some competition with the XRCC4/Ligase for the DSB by other proteins and XLF is required to overcome this.

In conclusion, cell extract was able to ligate the plasmid with Tg located at fifth position from the DSB but with lower efficiency compared to Tg3 plasmids. The base excision repair pathway is more functional if the modified base is far from the DSB. End joining by the purified proteins was proportional to the thymine glycol position from the DSB end. XLF was mandatory for repair of Tg1 and Tg2 by the purified proteins, and not for Tg3 and Tg5.

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Radiotherapy:

Clinical application of ionizing radiation, radiotherapy, is one crucial treatment option in cancer therapy apart from surgery and systemic therapy. More than 60% of the cancer patients receive radiation as a treatment modality today. Approximately, 45% of new cancer cases will receive radiotherapy (RT) and this proportion is increasing ^[1]. Moreover, RT is responsible for 40% of cancer cure providing an excellent cost-effectiveness ratio ^[2]. Radiotherapy can be used in various treatment settings as a definitive strategy or in multimodal settings as in adjuvant or neoadjuvant settings, with or without concomitant chemotherapy. Radiotherapy can rescue the surgical amputations, yielding better cosmesis and can also be used in palliative settings ^[1, 3]. Radiotherapy can not only significantly prolong patient survival but can also improve the local and metastatic control rates of tumors.

The main subcellular target for the radiotherapy is DNA. The effect of radiotherapy can be a lethal damage, which is unrepairable and causes cell death irrevocably or sub lethal resulting in sub lesions which can be repaired by the repair response pathways in the cell under normal circumstances unless additional damage is added or interference with the pathways exist. Basically, three modalities of cell death occur, Mitotic ^[4], permanent arrest in G1 ^[5] or Apoptosis

^[6]. Though the radiotherapy is directed to kill cancer cells, there is a probability of damage to the normal cells surrounding the tumor; radiotherapy by itself is pre-carcinogenic rendering normal cells to cancer cells and induces secondary cancers in primary tissue. Of all the lesions created in the DNA by radiotherapy, DSB are notorious for causing cell death ^[7-9].

Whenever there is cell damage with the radiation, as with the other modes of damage there is activation of robust repair pathways depending on the damage and the phase of the cell cycle. This activation of the repair pathways renders the tumor more radio resistant. Studies show that cells that are defective in the repair proteins are radiosensitive. Based on these data, attempts are being made to disrupt the various repair pathways using specific inhibitors and subsequent exposure to radiotherapy.

1.2 DNA structure and Radiation induced DNA damage:

Deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) is a molecule that encodes the genetic instructions for the development and functioning of all known living organisms and many viruses. It exists as "double helix" formed by two biopolymer strands running antiparallel to each other. DNA is composed of multiple nucleotides of guanine (G), adenine (A), thymine (T), or cytosine (C) — with a monosaccharide sugar called deoxyribose and a phosphate group. The deoxyribose sugars are joined at both the 3' -hydroxyl and 5' -hydroxyl groups to phosphate groups in ester links, also known as "phosphodiester" bonds with an alternating sugar-phosphate sequence of the DNA back bone. Two polymers of the nucleotides run antiparallel to each other and held together by the hydrogen bonds. DNA sequences are highly conserved in evolution and its integrity is essential for the normal functioning of the cell. DNA is continuously under both physiological and pathological stress, expressed as DNA damage. Programmed DNA breaks are formed during

homologous recombination that occurs during meiosis ^[10, 11], during replication and during regulated genome rearrangements in lymphocytes [V (D) J] and germ cells ^[12, 13, 14]. Mutagens such as oxidizing agents, alkylating agents, X-rays and also high-energy electromagnetic radiation such as ultraviolet light can produce DNA breaks. UV radiation can potentially cause DNA damage such as thymidine dimers^[15] and free radicals generated from hydrogen peroxide produce various forms of damage, including base modifications, especially of guanosine, and double-strand breaks^[16]. On an average about 150,000 bases undergo oxidative damage per day in a typical human cell^[17]. Ionizing radiation can produce lethality in cells by inducing DNA damage including single and double strand breaks, oxidation of purine and pyrimidine bases and crosslinks with proteins. Of all the oxidative lesions, double-strand breaks are the most dangerous and are difficult to repair. Attempted repair produces insertions and deletions, point mutations and chromosomal translocations^{[18].} Two main pathways take part in the DNA doublestrand breaks (DSBs) repair: homologous recombination and nonhomologous recombination. Either of the pathways have the propensity to be error prone. Loss of Heterozygosity (LOH) loss of the only present allele of tumor suppressor genes can occur in HR and NHEJ is the primary cause of translocations ^[19, 20] and dysfunctional telomeres fusion ^[21]. These mutations ultimately result in cancer.

1.3 Double strand breaks:

DNA-double strand breaks are considered to be the most deleterious lesions caused by ionizing radiation in case of a defective repair ^[22,23]. DSB can also be produced by radiomimetic drugs, inducing free radical damage of deoxyribose and topoisomerase-II inhibitors, by inhibiting the joining of breaks created by topoisomerase II. DSB can also be produced from DNA SSBs(during replication), by specific nucleases during V(D)J and class switch recombination in

vertebrate lymphocytes, meiotic recombination in germ cells and retroviral integration ^[24]. DSBs naturally occurring at chromosome ends expose telomeres resulting in critical shortening, leading to human cell aging ^[25]. DSBs can be as simple as the occurrence of two single-strand breaks (SSBs) within approximately 6-10 base pairs caused by a single radiation track or complex in association with abasic sites (apurinic or apyrimidinic) or damaged bases(oxidized purines and pyrimidines) at the clustered damage sites^[26,27]. Both simple and complex DSB induced by ionizing radiation can have 3' blocking ends, e.g. 3'-phosphate or 3'-phosphoglycolate moieties ^[29] or possess single-stranded overhangs of variable length. Repair of these complex lesions is more difficult than the isolated lesions and sometimes they are irreparable, enhancing the chromosomal aberrations and carcinogenesis.

1.4 Clustered DNA damage:

Clusters of the DNA lesions are the signature mark of a single track of radiation consisting of two or more individual lesions within one or two helical turns of the DNA ^[28-32]. As shown in Fig 1.1 the lesions can be a complex DSB with damaged base and/or abasic (AP) sites directly adjacent to the DSB ends^[33-35] or non-DSB clusters with the combination of two or more oxidized base, strand break or other DNA lesion that do not form a DSB. Closely associated base lesions, such as oxidized guanine [8-oxo-7, 8- dihydroguanine (8-oxoG)] and thymine glycol [5, 6- dihydroxy-5, 6-dihydrothymine or thymine glycol (Tg)] with other types of base lesions or apurinic/apyrimidinic (AP) sites exist in clusters ^[36-38]. In contrast, endogenous processes produce individual lesions which are more homogenously distributed ^[39-41]. The damage caused by the radiation can be a direct deposition of energy or indirectly via formation of reactive chemical species in the surrounding of DNA ^[42, 43]. Radiolysis of water in the vicinity of the DNA is primarily attributed to the production of hydroxyl radicals (OH⁻). All four types of

bases are equally sensitive to the attack by the OH⁻, as the energy deposition is proportional to mass ^[42]. The formation of these clusters depends on the quality of the radiation and the presence/absence of oxygen. The number of individual DNA lesions per unit of absorbed dose is about the same for low- and high-Linear Energy Transfer radiations^[44]. The distribution of these lesions is within a smaller number of sites (segments of DNA), implying a higher level of cluster complexity, i.e., the average number of lesions per cluster tends to increase with increasing LET. Under both aerobic and anaerobic conditions the complexity of the clusters increases with the dose of LET as predicted by the measure of SSB to DSB ratio. There will be a decrease in the cluster complexity as the oxygen levels go down, thus hypoxic condition contributing to radioresistance in tumor therapy ^[45]. The repair of the non-DSB cluster lesions is attempted by Base Excision Repair pathway proteins APE1 or PARP1, as evidenced from recent studies using primary human fibroblasts ^[46] or cell extracts ^[47]. The type of lesion and the inter-lesion distance and the orientation of nearby lesions (e.g., bi-stranded or tandem lesions) are the rate limitation to the process. There will be a reduction or inhibition of the processing enzymes such as the glycosylases and nucleases. This slow processing of the lesions leads to the persistence of these lesions until they hit a replication fork leading to the formation of chromosome breaks, mutations and misrepair ^[48, 49]. There will be formation of inadvertent DSB from these clustered lesions during the repair or replication ^[50]. Human AP-endonuclease-1 (hAPE1) is also capable of producing a DSB by cleaving the two opposite stranded AP sites. DSB can also result from the formation of nick in the intact strand, during processing of the apyrimidinic site on the opposite strand. There is a hierarchy of the repair of the lesions in case of three or more complex lesions in order to avoid the formation of DSB^[53]. There is a severe impairment of the excision of a base lesion such as 8-oxo-guanine, opposing an AP site or strand break until the AP site/strand break

is repaired, though it occurs slowly due to the opposed damaged base ^[52]. DSBs clustered DNA lesions either resulting from the direct action of the radiation or as a result of processing of non-DSB clusters are repaired by the NHEJ pathways to produce less complex clusters ^[53]. When the DSB is due to replication fork hitting the clustered SSB lesion, the repair is by a homologous recombination ^[54-56].



Fig 1.1: Schematic representation of Clustered damage in DNA by the ionizing radiation

Alexandros et al., 2013

1.5 Thymine Glycol:

Thymine glycol is the most common damaged base formed due to oxidation of thymine or deamination and oxidation 5-methyl-cytosine by ionizing radiation ^[57], cancer therapy or endogenous aerobic metabolism ^[58]. Radiation generates oxidants that can react with thymine leading to the formation of thymine glycol, thymine peroxide, thymine hydro peroxide, and other oxidized forms of the base. Further reaction of these products yields urea. Approximately 10%-20% of the radiation or radiotherapy induced damage results in thymine base oxidation and fragmentation ^[59]. Thymine glycol has four diastereomers of, i.e. (5R, 6S), (5R, 6R), (5S, 6R) and (5S, 6S), but exists as either the 5R cis–trans pair [(5R, 6S) and (5R, 6R)] or the 5S cis–trans pair [(5S, 6R) and (5S, 6S)] in solution, due to epimerization at the C6 position ^[60]. Oxidation of

thymidine or thymidine in the oligonucleotides preferentially yields (5R, 6S)-thymine glycol ^[61, 62]. Depending on the base that is oxidized, the counter base can be either A or G. Thymine glycol induces both structural and functional perturbations of the DNA. Free radical addition to the C (5)C (6) double bond of pyrimidines leads to a class of nonplanar ring-saturated lesions, unable to form hydrogen bonds with the opposite base taking conformations which are unstable in the solution ^[62,63]. Due to the interaction of the Tg with the polymerases, structural changes can be induced at both initiation and termination points resulting in the alteration of the relative amounts of termination bands of DNA synthesis ^[64]. Thymine glycol is a weak mutagen and can primarily block replication ^[65-76]. Studies using a template containing thymine glycol for primer extension studies with several DNA polymerases have shown that the extension occurs up to the site of Tg with adenine insertion and not beyond ^[66-68]. Thymine glycol is capable of blocking both the repair and replicative polymerases in vitro and can be lethal in vivo ^[71, 72]. However

there are several contexts in which thymine glycol is bypassed by certain DNA polymerases in vitro ^[67] and in vivo ^[65]. As Tg, like unmodified thymine, pairs with adenine it is a poor premutagenic lesion ^[64]. If it is a simple thymine glycol lesion, it is removed via single nucleotide patch base excision repair pathway ^[77], but, if it accompanies a DSB a more robust cell response to this damage may be required.

Repair of the lesion is sequence ^[64, 70] and counter-base dependent. The counter base has the propensity to either block the replication or promote misinsertions during translesional synthesis. Damaged base repair enzymes, Endonuclease III ^[78] and its human orthologue hNHT1 via their bifunctional activity i.e., N-glycosylation and AP-Endonuclease activity, can release thymine glycol, producing a compatible DNA 3' end. hNTH1 functions as the initial step of base excision repair(BER) to repair the hydrated, reduced, or oxidized, from the DNA backbone^[79].



Fig 1.2: Formation of thymine glycol: Reactive oxygen species (ROS), such as peroxide and hydroxyl radicals, are generated as byproducts during normal oxidative metabolism and ionizing radiation modify DNA bases. A common product of thymine oxidation is thymine glycol. Figure copied from Aller et al. 2007.

1.6 DNA Damage Response:

Sophisticated cellular networks that constantly monitor genome integrity are collectively termed the DNA damage response (DDR). DNA DSB's are deleterious as there is no complementary strand to be used as a template for repair. Repair of these breaks is the function of two major pathways: Homologous recombination and Non-Homologous end joining repair. These repair pathways are complementary and function under different circumstances. As homologous requires a sister chromatid for template, it occurs in S andG2 phase of the cell cycle ^[80, 81]. NHEJ is functional throughout the cell cycle and does not require a template. This makes NHEJ more error prone to insertions and deletions ^[82]. When classical NHEJ is impeded because of a missing or mutated component, alternative end-joining pathways operate. These alternative end-joining pathways utilize the factors such as the MRE11–RAD50–NBS1 (MRN) complex, poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase-1 (PARP-1), XRCC1, and DNA Ligase I or III that are involved in SSB repair (SSBR) or HR and there is reliance on terminal micro-homologies for the joining reactions^[83].

In response to DNA damage three distinct functionalities are activated: (1) Damage detection, (2) control of cell cycle and transcriptional programs of damage response, and (3) mechanisms for catalyzing the repair of the lesion ^[84].

Cell cycle progression and DNA repair are tightly regulated via cell cycle checkpoints due to activation of orchestrated cell signaling pathways ^[85]. On detection of DNA damage, these pathways stall the cell cycle progression at crucial stages such as before or during DNA replication (G1/S and intra-S checkpoints) and before cell division (G2/M checkpoint), thereby preventing duplication and segregation of damaged DNA. MRN sensor complex detects DSB's

and activates and recruits apical DDR kinase ATM (ataxia telangiectasia mutated) ^[86] while RPA recruits the ATR (ATM and rad3-related) kinase via its partner protein, ATRIP (ATRinteracting partner) at the regions of ssDNA exposed by DSB processing or ssDNA at stalled replication forks ^[87]. Mediator proteins for ATM such as BRCA1, MDC1 (mediator of DNA damage checkpoint) and 53BP1 (p53-binding protein 1) activate the effector kinases Chk1 and Chk2, spreading the signal throughout the nucleus stalling the progression of cell cycle. Reports show that ATM inhibit both RNA polymerase I- and II-dependent transcription locally at sites of DNA breaks in human cells^[88, 89] and recruits DNA repair proteins.

1.7 Repair Pathway Selection:

The MRN complex plays a pivotal role in directing a DSB down the appropriate repair pathway, via its DNA end-processing activities ^[90, 91]. In DDR, MRN complex responds very early and acts as a DSB's sensor ^[92]. In addition, it functions as a co-activator of cell cycle checkpoint signaling and a DSB repair effector in both the HR and NHEJ pathways ^[93,97]. Resection at DSBs plays a central role in determining the result of the competition between HR and NHEJ. While NHEJ is functional at any phase of cell cycle ^[98], HR is active during S and G2 phase, suppressing NHEJ during these phases. The factor which directs MRN complex mediated pathway selection is CtIP. CtIP concentrations are very low in G0/G1 phase, attributed to the proteosomal degradation during this phase. Upon progression to S/G2, CtIP protein levels are upregulated due to alleviation of this degradation ^[99]. CtIP is phosphorylated at Ser327 position in a CDK-dependent fashion, promoting complex formation between CtIP, MRN and BRCA1 in S/G2 ^[100]. This binding of CtIP to MRN complex, confers it with the exonuclease activity, and thus triggers 5' \rightarrow 3' resection via ExoI and 3' \rightarrow 5' resection via Mre11 activity ^[100]. Following this initial processing, other nucleases and helicases produce further resection of DSB generating

extensive 3' ssDNA overhangs on each side of the break ^[101-103]. The ssDNA thus generated is an excellent substrate for the HR-specific ssDNA-binding factors RPA and Rad51 ^[91], and a poor one for NHEJ-specific double strand DNA termini binding factor Ku70/80 ^{[104].} The phosphorylation state and low concentration of MRN-associated CtIP during G1 prevent the 5' \rightarrow 3' resection, prevents the formation of ssDNA and gives an opportunity for the NHEJ proteins to process the repair.

1.8 Homologous recombination:

Homologous recombination is the DNA repair process which utilizes a homologous sequence, a homologous chromosome or a sister chromatid for accurate DNA repair. This is a highly conservative process. As discussed above, the initial sensor and responder to localize at the DSB is the MRN complex ^[105] to form nuclear foci. MRN complex incites the further steps in HR mechanism by recruiting a phosphatidylinositol-3-related kinase, ATM, which phosphorylates histone H2AX at Ser139 position forming YH2AX. MDC1, a mediator protein facilitates the binding and phosphorylation between ATM and H2AX. By marking one or more megabases of DNA surrounding the break, YH2AX serves as a molecular beacon signaling the presence of damage ^[116]. YH2AX forms as a scaffold protein for the accumulation of other proteins in the repair pathway. Formation of NBS1/MRE11/Rad50, 53BP1, and BRCA1 foci is also regulated by MDC1. The RING-finger ubiquitin ligase, RNF8, at its FHA domains interacts with RNF8 further ubiquitinylates H2AX and facilitates the phosphorylated MDC1 ^[106-108]. accumulation of BRCA1 at the site of damage ^[109,110]. BRCA1-C complex, BRCA1-CtIP, is formed by the direct interaction o BRCA-1 and phosphorylated CtIP, and is recruited by MRN complex ^[111]. Cyclin dependent kinases phosphorylation of CtIP on Ser327 is essential for physical interactions between CtIP and BRCA1, which occurs only during G2 phase of cycle

^[112]. CtIP enrichment at the DSB site is MRN and ATM dependent. Upon binding to the MRN complex, of CtIP catalyzes Mre11 endonuclease activity, to introduce nicks on the DNA duplexes as far as 300 nt from DSB ends. The nick thus produced triggers Exo1-dependent 5' - 3' resection, while the Mre11 exonuclease mediates 3' -5' degradation of the nicked strand toward the break releasing any other proteins such as Ku(NHEJ factor) bound to the DSB, thus blocking NHEJ.. This extensive DSB end resection generates single strand DNA (ssDNA) overhangs ^[113,114]. ssDNA binding complex RPA (replication protein A) coats these ssDNA overhangs initially, later substituted by RAD 51, forming a nucleoprotein filament. Other recombinant proteins such as RAD52/RAD54 stabilize this interaction. This RAD51 nucleofilament, together with various other HR factors, mediates strand invasion near a homologous sequence in sister chromatid or homologous chromosome. Once the strand is copied and filled in by DNA polymerases and ligated by Ligase I, DNA helicase and resolvase enzymes mediate the cleavage and resolution of HR intermediates.

1.9 Nonhomologous End Joining:

NHEJ, as the name suggests, involves direct joining of the DNA ends with minimal processing of the ends. DSB repair in mammals appears to be primarily by NHEJ ^[132]. This mechanism is constitutively active throughout the cell cycle, although it is partially suppressed by certain HR factors in S/G2 ^[115].

The three main steps of NHEJ are: (I) DNA end recognition and assembly and stabilization of the NHEJ complex at the DNA double strand break; (II) Bridging of the DNA ends and promotion of end stability; (III) DNA end processing; and (IV) Ligation of the broken ends and dissolution of the NHEJ complex ^[116].

XRCC5, XRCC6 and XRCC7 are the genes that encode some of the core NHEJ proteins that form DNA-dependent protein kinase (DNA-PK). XRCC5 and XRCC6 encode the 80 and 70 kDa subunits of the Ku70/80 heterodimer (the DNA-binding subunit of DNA-PK), and XRCC7 encodes the 470 kDa DNA-catalytic subunit of protein kinase DNA-PKcs^[117]. In addition to the above factors, a heterodimer XRCC4/Ligase IV is required for ligation of the strands^[118] and Cerrunnos/XLF as an activator of ligase activity^[119].

Various end processing factors such as Artemis, TdT, WRN, PNK, hTDP1, FEN1 are required to clean the ends of the DNA of any factors that hinders the direct joining and DNA polymerase λ for filling the gaps created in the process. Proteins such as PARP-3 and APLF accelerate the NHEJ by retaining the XRCC4/Ligase-IV complex at the site of break ^[120].

1.10 NHEJ Pathway:

DSB associated with V (D)J recombination, irradiation or chemotherapy damage are primarily recognized by the MRN complex, which by further signaling via ATM, phosphorylates and activates H2AX to YH2AX. YH2AX recruits BRCA-1 or 53bp1, one of the deciding factors for the type of repair. In G1/M oligomers of 53bp1 flank on the either side of the DSB bound to the histones modified by acetylases and methyl transferases. The chromatin conformation is thus maintained, with limited access to transcription and HR factors ^[121], promoting NHEJ. Whenever there is a DSB, irrespective of the cell cycle Ku is the initial protein ^[122] to translocate to the site and binds dsDNA ends with extremely high affinity ^[82] and encircles the DNA with its preformed channel ^[123]. This binding occurs in an ATP dependent manner ^[104] and prevents the

DNA ends from further damage. Ku functions as a signal molecule for the recruitment of further NHEJ proteins. Recently, it has been shown that Ku can process the ends of the DNA by the

virtue of its 5'-dRP/AP lyase activity, removing the abasic sites by nicking DNA 3' of the abasic site which involves a Schiff-base covalent intermediate ^[124]. After its binding to the ends, there will be inward translocation of Ku and recruitment of DNA-PKcs, to form a Ku-DNA-PKcs synaptic complex(DNAPK) which tethers the DNA ends together and offers protection from premature nucleolytic degradation^[125, 126]. Synapsis of the juxtaposed DNA ends stimulates auto phosphorylation of DNAPKcs by DNA-PK kinase activity, induces a conformational change in the DNA-Protein complex, providing access to nucleases and ligases as DNA-PKcs moves away ^[126-128]. As the IR produces complex DSB's with 3'-phosphate or 3'-phosphoglycolate groups, 3' and 5' overhangs with damaged bases and/or ribose units in the vicinity of the break ends ^[129, 130]. the DNA ends must be processed prior to ligation. Enzymes, such as Artemis, FEN-1, PNKP, WRN, MRN, hTDP1, Polymerases belonging to Pol X family aid in the processing step. Artemis removes the hairpin bend at the end at the V(D)J associated DSB, metnase trims the damaged ends^[131], nucleases remove several nucleotides from single-stranded overhangs at the DSB ends termini, aprataxin removes adenylate groups^[132,133], the phosphodiesterases TDP1 and TDP2 process DNA topoisomerase adducts^[134]. DNA polymerases belonging PolX family fill in the gap. Mre11/Rad50/ Nbs1 (MRN) complex plays a role in damage signaling and protection of the ends from degradation ^[135] Khanna et al., 2001). FEN-1 has an exonuclease function; WRN (Werner syndrome helicase) and BLM (Bloom syndrome helicase) are the unwinding enzymes ^[136].

In addition to DNAPKcs, DNA bound Ku also recruits XRCC4/Ligase IV complex and XLF independently ^[137]. The recruitment of the proteins does not require any protein-protein interactions but the assembly of the proteins does. XRCC4 requires DNAPKcs and XLF requires XRCC4 to be retained at the repair loci. Once recruited, XLF and XRCC4 form a nucleo-

filament around the DNA ends by interacting in a head-head manner. The architectural channel thus formed with the synergy of Ku-XLF-XRCC4 interaction stabilizes DSBs and provides accessibility and activation of LigIV, which ligates the DNA, ends ^[138]. Other proteins recruited to the DSB such as Aprataxin and-PNK-like factor (APLF) enhance the stability of the filament ^[133,139,140]. As expected of it, NHEJ is an error prone pathway ^[141], as there will be often removal of the nucleotides and fill in without the guidance of a template. Loss of nucleotides during the process makes the DSB repair inaccurate. Except for the recruitment of the Ku heterodimer, the order of recruitment of other factors is flexible depending on the complexity of the DNA damage ^[142]. The recruitment of the NHEJ machinery to the site of the DSB occurs via a dynamic assembly ^[137,143], rather than a step-wise sequential manner. Simple Ku heterodimer, XRCC4, LigaseIV and XLF are sufficient for the repair of simple DSB, whereas complex breaks requires DNA-PKcs and ATM activation.



Emil Mladenov and George Iliakis, 2011

Fig: 1.3: Schematic overview of NHEJ: 1) Recognition of the DSB produced by an by the heterodimer protein Ku 2) Recruitment of the DNA PKcs by Ku and formation of DNA PK complex by the activation of its kinase activity 3) Autophosphorylation of DNA PKcs shifts the complex inwards exposing the DNA ends for the processing enzymes. 4) XRCC4/LigIV complex in combination with XLF forms a filament around the broken ends and once the ends are processed DNA LigIV ligates the ends restoring the DNA integrity.

NHEJ Proteins:

1.10.1 Ku Protein:

Ku is the first of the core NHEJ proteins to sense the DSB and initiate the repair^[144]. The protein occurs in abundance and binds to the DNA ends with a strong binding constant of $2 \times 10^9 \text{ M}^{-1}$. Ku protein exists as a heterodimer, composed of a 73 kDa subunit (Ku70) and an 86 kDa subunit (Ku80). Ku70 and Ku80 share similarity in the central DNA binding region(Ku core), with unique carboxy and amino-terminal regions. Ku heterodimer binds to the ends of the DNA in an ATP dependent manner with high affinity^[109,124]. The three-dimensional structures of both subunits, have regions that contribute to a basket structure to completely encircle the dsDNA molecule^[123]. Binding site for Ku on DNA is the sugar back bone and thus sequence independent^[123]. Though there can be binding of multiple Ku proteins on to the DNA in a length dependant manner in-vitro^[146,147], only a single heterodimer can bind to each end in vivo^[148]. At the two DNA ends of the break Ku binds to each of them forming a Ku: DNA complex. This serves as a dock for further NHEJ protein assembly^[149]. The Ku heterodimer, either directly or indirectly, recruits the main NHEJ factors, including DNA-PKcs^[145], X-ray cross complementing protein 4 (XRCC4)^[150,151], DNA Ligase IV^[150], XRCC4-like factor (XLF)^[152], and Aprataxinand-PNK-like factor (APLF) [139, 140, 153] to DSBs. Ku undergoes a structural conformation in order to interact with DNAPKcs^[154], polymerases mu and lambda and XRCC4:DNA ligase IV^[151, 154]. On recruitment, binding and activation of DNA-PKcs by the Ku-DNA complex they form "DNA-PK" complex^[156]. There is activation of its kinase activity which phosphorylates four sites in the unique regions on Ku : serine at 6 th position of Ku70 and serine 577, serine 580

and threonine 715 sites of Ku80 [157] and various other NHEJ proteins. Protein- protein interactions are promoted by the putative von Willebrand (vWA) domains on Ku 70 and Ku 80. SAP domain (SAF-A/B, Acinus and PIAS), a putative DNA-binding motif on the carboxytermini of Ku70 proteins is important in chromosomal organization. Ku 70 interacts with XRCC4 directly^[144] and the heterodimer with DNA ligase IV in a DNA dependent manner via its tandem BRCA1 C-terminal (BRCT) domains found in C-terminus of DNA Ligase^[150]. The binding of XLF to the Ku heterodimer is also in a DNA dependant fashion mediated between the heterodimeric domain of Ku and the C-terminal region of XLF from amino acids 270–299 ^[158]. The protein APLF which stabilizes the NHEJ complex, interacts at its conserved MID domain (182–191), directly with the vWA domain of Ku80^[192]. Structurally, the Ku heterodimer performs a general role in binding to and maintaining the stability of the ends at DSBs in all cell cycle phases ^[159]. By maintaing the two ends of the broken DNA molecule together in a synaptic complex, it produces positional stability in both in vitro and in vivo ^[146,160,161]. Ku protein also blocks the DNA end processing enzymes including exonuclease 1 and the Mre11/Rad50/Nbs1 complex in vitro ^[162]. Recently discovered enzymatic activity of Ku is 3'-dRP/AP lyase that removes abasic sites by nicking DNA 3' of the abasic site, catalyzed via Several lysine residues in the Ku70 vWA domain^[124].

In a treatment with combination of camptothecin and ataxia-telangiectasia mutated (ATM) protein inhibitors ^[148] or treatment of HR-deficient cells with Poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) inhibitors ^[165] or in treatment of Fanconi Anemia (FA)-deficient cells ^[164], Ku mediated NHEJ is required to kill the cells.



Fig 1.4: Schematic representation Ku heterodimer subunits 70 and 80 with the common "Ku core" regions of Ku70 (amino acids 261–505) and Ku80 (amino acids 251–509), vWA at the Ku70 (amino acids 37–260) and Ku80 (amino acids 9–235) , phosphorylation sites Ku70 (serine-6) and Ku80 (serines 577 and 580 and threonine 715) indicated by "P" and DNA-PKcs interacting region (amino acids 720–732) on Ku80, SAP domain in Ku70 (amino acids 559–609) and a Nuclear Localization Signal domain. S.P. Lees-Miller, K. Meek 2003

1.10.2 DNA-PKcs

DNA-PKcs is a serine/threonine protein kinase, a member of the phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase related protein kinases (PIKKs) ^[166-168]. The DNA-PKcs tertiary structure, as determined by the Cryo-electron micrograph studies is composed of a globular head or crown region and a tail or base ^[169-171], with cavities large enough to accommodate dsDNA. It is composed of a large catalytic subunit, DNA-PKcs (encoded by the gene PRKDC), and a heterodimeric protein, Ku. Like the other PIKKs it has a carboxyl-terminal PI 3, 4-kinase domain. Flanking the kinase domain are a large amino-terminal domain and FAT (FRAP, ATM, TRRAP) and FATC domains ^[172]. The FAT and FATC domains may interact to stabilize the catalytic domain. The large N terminal domains have a highly helical surface that could provide multiple sites for protein–protein interactions ^[173].

At the DSB, Ku70/80 heterodimer recruits DNA-PKcs to the DNA ends to form the DNA-PK holoenzyme and activates the kinase activity of DNA-PKcs. Activated DNA PKcs can phosphorylate each of the canonical NHEJ factors including Ku70/80 ^[157,175], XRCC4 ^[176,177], DNA Ligase IV ^[178], and XLF ^[179], in vitro, though not essential for their function. Other factors such as Artemis, polynucleotide kinase/phosphatase (PNKP), the histone H2AX and p53 are also phosphorylated in a redundant manner by both DNA PKcs and ATM^[180-182]. DNA-PKcs has no to limited kinase activity in the absence of Ku70/80 and DNA, thus making it truly a DNA-dependent protein kinase ^[183,184]. Both autophosphorylation and transphosphorylation of the DNAPKcs can occur as a function of the DNA damage response^[185,186]. Autophosphorylation at the DNA-PKcs S2056 cluster of DNA-PKcs is required for relieving the blockade^[186] it creates for the formation of XRRC4-XLF filament across the DNA break^[185, 187, 188], thus allowing the end ligation to occur. Transphosphorylation at the T2609 clusters on DNAPKcs by ATM
primarily required the recruitment of Artemis endonuclease to open the hair pin bends at the DNA ends. ATR mediated phosphorylation also promotes end processing. DNAPKcs can phosphorylate the other self-molecule at the same cluster as ATM. Studies show that the protein with mutation at three of the five potential phosphorylation sites with in the T2609 cluster(3A allele) does not block hairpin opening, but renders it hypersensitive to both ATM and DNA-PK kinase inhibitors^[189]. The DNAPKcs null mice are viable but immunodeficient, and human cell lines such as M059J with frame shift mutations of DNAPKcs ^[190,191] lack kinase activity ^[192], rendering them radiosensitive^[193].



Fig 1.5 Schematic representation of DNA PKcs showing the FAT (FRAP, ATM, TRRAP), FATC domains , kinase domain and the phosphorylation sites. Davis et al. 2014.

1.10.3 XRCC4/DNA Ligase IV:

After processing of the DSB ends by nucleases and polymerases, the terminal and the central joining step of NHEJ is carried out by XRCC4-DNA Ligase IV complex. XRCC4 – X-Ray Cross Complementing protein -4 interacts and forms a tight complex with DNA ligase IV ^[118,194,195] and this complex, often referred to as X4L4 ^[224]. This complex is formed in the cytoplasm and localized to the nucleus in response to DSB^[243]. During this localization process XLF is also recruited^[243]. XRCC4 protein is a tetramer resembling a dumbbell with two globular ends separated by a long thin stalk. The tetramer is composed of two dimers, and each dimer is made up of two similar subunits. The first subunit (L) contains amino acid residues 1 - 203 and has a longer stalk than the second subunit (S) which contains residues 1 - 178. These two subunits share similarity in the globular N-terminal domains. XRCC4 can interacts with DNA ^[196], DNA-PKcs ^[197], Ku ^[157] and DNA polymerase μ ^[198]. Upon recruitment of XRCC4 and XLF to the site of DSB, these proteins interact co-operatively to form nucleoprotein super helical filaments via alternating XRCC4 and XLF head domains. The interface of the filament interacts and bridges the ends of the broken DNA^[199-201]. Hyper-phosphorylation by DNA-PKcs at the C-terminal alpha helical domains of XRCC4 facilitates this interaction. The so formed filament interacts with the DNA at the positively charged surfaces formed by conserved lysine/arginine clusters, XRCC4: Arg-71, Lys-72, Lys-99, Lys-102, and Arg-107; XLF: Lys-31, Arg-57, Lys-59, Lys-63, Arg-64, Arg-81, Arg-107, and Arg-109)^[202,203]. XRCC4/LigaseIV complex is formed by the interaction of BRCT2 domain of Lig IV at the C-terminal stalk of XRCC4 via multiple residues, enhanced by the Cernunnos(XLF)^[199]. DNA Ligase IV is specific to c-NHEJ and is an ATP-dependent DNA ligase (ATP-dependent transfer of phosphate bonds that results in strand ligation)^[204]. Ligase IV at its N-terminus, carries a DNA binding

domain(DBD) with an adenylation domain that has the active site of the enzyme and an oligobinding domain (OBD)^[204]. At the C-terminus, it has two breast and ovarian cancer susceptibility protein C-terminus (BRCT) domains separated by a linker containing the XRCC4interacting region (XIR). DNA Ligase IV is capable of ligating incompatible DNA ends and DNA across gaps^[205]. LigIV is recruited to DSBs through its interaction with the stalk of XRCC4 ^[206,207]. Ligase IV protein is not stable in XRCC4-deficient cells, either in mammals or yeast^[208,209]. Though DNA ligase IV has activity on its own, its interaction with the XRCC4 stimulates Ligase IV activity by the stabilization and adenylation ^[194]. Ligase IV mediated ligation of the mismatched and non-cohesive ends is facilitated by XLF. By promoting readenylation, XLF also primes DNA Ligase for the next ligation event ^[210-213]. APLF protein was recently proved to stimulate ligation by XRCC4-DNA LigaseIV only in the presence of Ku70/80^[139]. Studies show that localization of XRCC4 and XLF to the DNA and the formation of filaments depends Ligase IV^[214,215]. And formation of Ligase IV/XRCC4 complex is needed for the efficient interaction of XLF with XRCC4 ^[215]. In addition, Ligase IV/XRCC4 complex contributes to DNA-PKcs autophosphorylation, DNA end synapsis ^[216] and recruiting and modulating the activity of nucleases and polymerases thus aiding in processing of the ends^{[204,} ^{217–219]}. As with the other NHEJ proteins, mutations of the XRCC4/Ligase IV result in immunodeficiency and increased IR sensitivity due to the dysregulated NHEJ ^[220].



Fig 1.6: Schematic representation of XRCC4 showing core functional and homodimerization domains of XRCC4 as well as the ligase IV binding region. Adapted from Kara et al. 2005



Fig 1.7: Schematic representation of LigasIV showing the DBD, catalytic domain, NLS, BRCT I, XIR and BRCT II Adapted from D.B. Francis et al. 2014

1.10.4 XLF:

XRCC4-like factor (XLF), also known as Non-homologous end-joining factor 1 (NHEJ1) and Cernunnos, is a novel protein encoded by the NHEJ1 gene^[221]. It is named as XLF due its similarity of the tertiary structure to XRCC-4 rather than the sequence homology^[222]. XLF is a constitutive dimer with a N-terminal globular head, an alpha-helical stalk and a compact folded C-terminal region^[202]. XLF has no enzymatic function. It interacts with DNA, XRCC4, Ku and Ligase IV. XLF interacts with DNA in a length dependant and protein concentration dependent manner [119,202,211] at Lys-31, Arg-57, Lys-59, Lys-63, Arg-64, Arg-81, Arg-107, and Arg-109 along with the XRCC4 residues Arg-71, Lys-72, Lys-99, Lys-102, and Arg-107 in its filamentous forms^[202,203]. XLF and XRCC4 interact in a head-head fashion at residues Leu-115 residues of XLF and Met-59, Met-61, Lys-65, Lys-99, Leu-108, and Phe-10 of XRCC4 forming a "Leu-lock"^[202]. These two proteins form long super-helical filaments that interact in parallel to form a grooved U-shaped channel^[200]. XRCC4/XLF head domains form the base and the stalks of the proteins form the sides ^[223]. DNA-PK complex phosphorylates XLF at C-terminal sites in vitro aiding the ability of the XRCC4:XLF filaments to bridge DNA molecules in C-NHEJ or V(D)J recombination^[224]. Studies show that XLF requires a DNA of 83 bp or longer to bind and cannot form a stable complex with 60 bp DNA, in gel shift assays^[211]. But in the presence of Ku, XLF can form a stable complex with shorter DNA^[152]. The 10 terminal residues in XLF(289-299) interact with the central DNA binding domain of the Ku heterodimer^[152]. XLF once recruited and bound to XRCC4 enhances the activity of DNA ligase IV by 20-200-fold (in vitro) ^[119,211, 212], especially at mis-matched DNA ends ^[264]. XLF may enhance ligation by promoting re-adenylation of LigIV^[225]. In response to the damage in the DNA, XLF responds quickly and starts to accumulate locally within a few seconds ^[137] in a Ku-dependent and

XRCC4-independent reaction. IR sensitivity was detected in XLF deficient human fibroblasts $^{[210,213]}$ and mouse ES cells $^{[226]}$ along with DSB repair defects and severely impaired V(D)J recombination. The first clinical case of SCID due to XLF deficiency was reported in 2003 $^{[227]}$.



Fig 1.8: Structure of the human Cernunnos/XLF protein. (A) Schematic representation of the full-length Cernunnos/XLF protein (299 amino acids). Clinically and functionally important residues are shown. NLS means a nuclear localization signal. A gray region represents the N-terminal globular domain. Adapted from Yoni et al. 2009

1.11 Base Excision repair pathway

Oxidative DNA damage can result from the attack by reactive oxygen and nitrogen species (ROS/RNS) which can be produced by either exogenous sources of oxidation such as ionizing radiations like X, γ and cosmic rays, radon decay, oxidizing chemicals and UV-A solar light^[228] or endogenous O₂ metabolism (electron transport chain (ETC)), immune responses and inflammation^[229]. This includes base modifications such as oxidized bases, abasic (AP) sites, and single-strand breaks (SSBs). BER is the primary nuclear and mitochondrial DNA repair pathway for small base modifications such as alkylation, deamination and oxidation^[230]. It predominantly processes small base lesions derived from oxidation, alkylating agents and genotoxic chemicals^[231]. The BER pathway functions in five steps utilizing four main enzymes, DNA glycosylase (DG), AP endonuclease (APE1), DNA polymerase and DNA ligases^[231,232]. Other essential proteins that are required for the repair are X-ray repair cross-complementing 1 (XRCC1); proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA); replication protein A (RPA)^[233] (Mitra et al., 2001) and poly ADP ribose polymerase-1 (PARP1). The poly ADP ribose polymerase-1 (PARP1) and X-ray repair cross-complementing protein 1 (XRCC1)^[234–238] are the two major scaffolding proteins in BER. The repair pathway proceeds through five steps. First step is the recognition and removal of the damaged base, which is performed as a function of glycosylases such as uracil/thymine excision enzymes (UNG, SMUG1, TDG, and MBD4) ^[239,240], 8-oxo-G repair enzymes (OGG1 and MYH) ^[241, 242], oxidized pyrimidine repair enzymes (NTH1 and NEIL1-3) ^[243-244] and methyl-purine glycosylase (MPG) ^[245, 246]. The glycosylation leaves an abasic site which can stall transcription and must be processed for the repair to continue^[247, 248]. This apurinic/apyramidinic site is cleaved by the DG itself, if it is bifunctional^[249,250] or by APE1, if DG is monofunctional^[233, 251, 252]. After the removal of the abasic sugar, the strand break formed is proximated by the scaffolding proteins poly ADP ribose polymerase-1 (PARP1) and X-ray repair cross-complementing protein 1 (XRCC1) ^[234-238]. There is further recruitment of the other BER proteins, required for the completion of the repair ^[234-238].

The fourth step is clearing of the 3' block formed by 3' phosphoglycolates, by APE1 and/or PNKP or Pol β and addition of 5' phosphate groups by 5' polynucleotide kinase (PNK) in an XRCC-1 and DNA-PKCS-dependent manner^[253]. As the ends are cleaned and made compatible for ligation, DNA polymerase- β (pol- β) fills in the gaps^[254]. The insertion can be either a single base (short-patch repair) or a stretch of bases inserted at and beyond the initial site of damage (long-patch repair) displacing some of the nearby bases^[255]. These displaced stretch of DNA bases are cleaved by a specialized flap-endonuclease, FEN1 ^[256]. Finally, the nick created is sealed by DNA Ligase, DNA ligase I (LIGI, long-patch BER) or DNA ligase III (LIGIII, short-patch BER)^[257]



A.K. Mantha et al. 2014

Fig. 1.9: Oxidative DNA base damage repair through BER-pathway. Initiation of BER is by removal of the modified base by either a monofunctional (M) or bifunctional (B) DNA glycosylase (DG), which leaves an AP site. If monofunctional enzyme cleaves the glycosidic bond APE 1 incises the DNA backbone 5' to the AP site. The single strand breaks(SSBs) left by the both DG and MG contain either a 3' or 5' obstructive termini. These end breaks are recognized by PARP1and processed by pol- β , APE1 or PNKP depending on the specific nature of the terminus. When 3'-OH and 5'-P termini result from end processing, the BER and SSBR diverge into two sub-pathways, short-patch (SN) and long-patch (LP) BER/SSBR. In SN-BER/SSBR, the single nucleotide gap is filled in is pol β aided by the XRCC1 scaffold in the presence of PNKP and ligated by Lig III. In LP-BER/SSBR, pol δ/ϵ with the aid of PCNA 2 to 13 nucleotide gap is filled in and the resulting 5' flap is removed by FEN-1. As with the SN-BER final ligation step is accomplished by Lig II.

1.12 Human EndoIII like protein (NTH) and bacterial Endonuclease III

EndoIII like protein (NTH) is the major human DNA glycosylase that detects and removes the oxidized bases by its N-glycosylase activity ⁽²⁵⁸⁾ as the first step in base excision repair pathway (BER). Thymine glycol is one of the substrates ⁽²⁵⁹⁾. However, some studies documented that if the oxidative bases are located at the 3' terminal position of a SSB, that activity of NTH1 is greatly reduced ^(260,261). Many genes encode enzymes that are involved in the repair of damaged bases that are evolutionally conserved in many species ranging from bacteria to human ⁽²⁶²⁾

Endonuclease III (Nth) is a bifunctional enzyme from E. coli that acts as both an N-glycosylase and an AP-lyase. While the N-glycosylase activity releases damaged pyrimidines from double-stranded DNA, generating an abasic site (an apyrimidinic or AP site), AP-lyase activity of the enzyme cleaves 3' to the AP site, leaving a 5' phosphate and a 3' ring-opened sugar. Urea, thymine glycol and uracil glycol are the damaged bases recognized and removed by Endonuclease III ^(263,264).

1.13 Klenow Fragment:

DNA polymerase I (Pol I) is encoded by PolA gene (928bp) has 5'-3' exonuclease activity (1– 323), 5'-3' polymerase activity (324–517) and 3' -5' exonuclease activity (521–928). Klenow fragment is the large protein fragment (324-928) and is produced from DNA Pol I by proteolysis with protease subtilisin, losing its 5'-3' exonuclease activity and retaining the polymerase and 3'-5' exonuclease activity. It functions in synthesis of double-stranded DNA from single-stranded templates, fills in recessed 3' ends of DNA fragments to make 5' overhang blunt by digests away protruding 3' overhangs. Mutation in the region with 5'-3' exonuclease activity retains only 5'-3' polymerase activity, producing a Klenow Exo- fragment. Klenow Exo- can only polymerize the strand in 5'-3' direction on a single strand of DNA or at the end with a 5' overhang. It has also the ability to add an extra nucleotide to the 3' terminus of a blunt end because of the absence of exonuclease activity.

Studies show that presence of thymine glycol in the clustered DNA lesions influences the repair of these lesions. If Tg is opposed to the AP lesion in a bistranded cluster damage there is a substantial delay in the repair of the AP lesion by short BER^[265] Presence of Tg at the DSB with the overhangs, inhibit the gap filling by polymerases, due to its planar structure^[266]. The current study focuses on the tolerance of the presence of the Tg at the DSB blunt ends by NHEJ repair in cell extracts and core recombinant NHEJ proteins.

II. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Substrate

Theoligonucleotides5'ATGCGGATCGCGTTGTCTg (Tg1), 5'ATGCGGATCGCGTTGCTgC (Tg2), 5'ATGCGGATCGCGTTG-Tg-CT-3' (Tg3) and 5'-ATGCGGATCGCGT-Tg-GT CT-3' (Tg5) were ordered from Midland Certified Reagents (Midland, TX). They were re-suspended in TE (10 mM Tris–HCl, pH 8, and 0.1 mM EDTA). 1mCi of [γ-32P] ATP was used to label 50 pmoles of the oligonucleotide, using Polynucleotide kinase (PNK) and incubated for 1 hr at 37 °C. Each oligomer was then annealed to an equal quantity of a complementary 5'- phosphate containing, 3'GTATACGCCTAGCGCAACGAGp5' or 3'GTATACGCCTAGCGCAACAGAp-5', via heating to 80°C followed by slow cooling to10°C. The duplexes generated by this annealing process included, on one end a 3-base 3'overhang that was complementary to the 3' overhang created by BstAPI digestion of pUC19.

2.2 Ligation of oligomeric duplexes to the KasI/BstAPI cleaved pUC19:

17μg of the plasmid pUC19 DNA is digested with 50 units of KasI (NEB) in 0.3 ml of NEB CutSmart buffer for 3 hrs at 37°C and then digested with 50 units of BstAPI in the same buffer for 3 hrs at 60°C. The 2.6-kb KasI-BstAPI fragment was purified on a 0.8% agarose gel, electro eluted and concentrated with an ultracel 100k centrifugal filter.

10 pmole of the annealed oligomers were combined with (~1.7 pmole) of KasI/BstAPI fragment and treated with 12,000 units (4 μ l) T7 DNA ligase in to ligate them at the BstAPI end in 130 μ l of ligation buffer for 2 hrs at 25°C. Phenol/chloroform and ethanol precipitated extraction of the ligation products is done. These products are then digested with SmaI (500 units) for 2 hours at 25°C in 50 μ l CutSmart buffer. This removes 177 bp from the KasI-end and leaves a blunt end. The resulting 2.6-kb substrate has one Tg-modified end. This substrate is electro eluted and concentrated as above. T7 ligase was used for ligase instead of T4 ligase due to its preferential ligation of only cohesive and not the blunt ends (Doherty at al. 1996; Subramanya et al.1996). Some self-ligation was detected in case of the unmodified control oligomers, and therefore for these oligomers the T7 Ligase was reduced to only 2400 units. In the case of Tg5 plasmid there some ligation seen between head-head blunt ends, and cutting the plasmid with Sma I would have eliminated any head-tail ligation. The ligation products were purified by agarose gel electrophoresis and Electro elution (Bennett et al. 1996).

2.3 Electro elution of the modified substrate:

The nucleotide is electro eluted using a 11 inch segment of pretreated dialysis tubing (6,000-8,000 molecular weight) filled with the buffer composed of 20mM Tris, pH8 and 1mM EDTA (the elution buffer). The gel slice containing the desired DNA band was placed in the dialysis tubing and the other end of it was knotted after removal of air bubbles. The dialysis tube was placed in a gel box filled with the same buffer and the DNA was eluted overnight at 50 V. Then the dialysis bag was cut and the buffer containing DNA substrate was collected into 15 ml

centrifuge tubes. $0.45\mu m$ filters were used to remove any debris and the DNA was concentrated by micro- concentration to about 500 μ l using centricon-100 (Amicon). The concentrate was collected into 1.5 ml Eppendorf tubes and precipitated with 1/9 volumes of NaOAc and 2.5 volumes of 100% EtOH, washed with 70% EtOH and dissolved in 50 μ l TE.

2.4 Bus cell extract preparation:

Bus cells were grown in to confluence on thirty 15-cm dishes each with 20 ml alpha-MEM medium with 10% FBS. On the day of the experiment, the dishes were washed with 20 ml PBS at room temperature. 3ml of 0.25% trypsin-EDTA was added to each dish, making sure it covers all the cells. They were incubated for 5 min until the cells are detached and then 3 ml medium and serum were added. These samples were collected and pelleted in 50 ml tubes at 1500 rpm for 5 min in ultracentrifuge using SW55 rotor at room temperature. The cells were resuspended in 50 ml medium and serum and pelleted again. The pellet was again resuspended in 25 ml medium and serum and pelleted again. The pellet was resuspended in 30 ml ice cold PBS and pelleted at 4 C and packed cell volume (PCV) is recorded. The last process was repeated again. The pelleted cells were resuspended in 5XPCV cold hypotonic buffer containing10Mm Tris-HCl pH8, 1mM EDTA, 5mM DTT and proteinase inhibitors pepstatin 1µg/ml, chymostatin 1µg/ml, aprotinin 2µg/ml, leupeptin 1µg/ml, PMSF 1mM. The cells were quickly pelleted. This pellet was again resuspended in 2XPCV hypotonic buffer and inhibitors and let set on ice 20 min. 1.5 ml of this solution was put in a small dounce homogenizer each time and stroked 20 times. After it was let set for 20 min, it was transferred to cold 5 ml centrifuge and ¼ volume of the hypertonic solution (83.5Mm Tris Ph 7.5, 1.65M KCl, 3.3 mM EDTA, 1mM DTT) and inverted several times to mix well. This was centrifuged at 43K for 3 hrs in SW55 at 2°C. From the top the middle layer which has cytosol was collected using 22G needle, avoiding cloudy layer on the top. The

cytoplasm thus collected was dialyzed for 3 hrs in storage buffer (20Mm Tris pH 8, 0.1 M KOAC, 1Mm DTT, 0.5Mm EDTA, 20% glycerol) with inhibitors at 4°C. The resulting solution was freezed in small aliquots(10µl-80µl) at -80°C.

2.5 End joining assays using cell extracts:

Bus whole cell extracts which are deficient in XLF were used for the reactions in a buffer containing 50 mM triethanolammonium acetate (pH8), 1 mM ATP, 1 mM dithiothreitol, 50 μ g/ml BSA , 1.3 mM Mg(OAc)2 and dNTPs at 100 μ M each.

Total reaction volume was 16-µl, with 10µl of extract, resulting in a final protein concentration of 8 mg/ml. 200nM of human recombinant protein XLF was substituted for some reactions. 100 ng of the substrate was added and the reaction mixed by pipetting and incubated at 37 °C for 6 hrs. Samples were deproteinized by adding an End Joining Lysis buffer containing 1mg/ml of Proteinase K for 3 hrs at 56°C. The DNA was then extracted with phenol/chloroform and precipitated with glycoblue and ethanol for one hour. After the precipitation, all samples were dissolved in 43 µl of TE and digested with 20 units of NdeI and PstI and 5 µl of 10X CutSmart buffer (New England Biolabs) at 37°C for 3 hrs. Gel electrophoresis of the samples was done in 20% polyacrylamide sequencing gels. Then the gels were exposed to phosphor imaging screen for1 to 2 days at -20°C. Data were analyzed using a Typhoon 9100 imager (GE Healthcare Bio-Sciences, Pittsburgh) and Image Quant 3.1 or 5.1software (GE Healthcare Bio-Sciences, Pittsburgh). The percentage of end joining was determined by measuring the percentage radioactivity of the joined fragments as a function of total radioactivity in the same lane.

2.6 Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis:

For electrophoretic separation of the DNA strands, Polyacrylamide gels (20x30x0.08cm) containing 40% acrylamide: bisacrylamide in a ratio of 20:1, 8µl of 10XTBE and urea in a final concentration of 8.3 M were used. The mixture was cooled to room temperature and 0.06g ammonium persulfate and 45µl of TEMED (N', N', N', N', N'-tetramethylethylene diamine) was added. The gel was allowed to polymerize for 1 hour. 15 µl of samples are then loaded into the wells of the gel and electrophoresed at constant power of 42 W until the marker reached the bottom of the gel.

2.7 End joining reaction with ddTTP and Endonuclease:

Bus cell extracts were substituted with XLF and ddTTP was used instead of dTTP during the incubation for some end joining reactions. After proteolysis and phenol/ethanol precipitation, each of the reactions with dTTP and ddTTP was divided into equal halves. One half was treated with Endonuclease III in Endonuclease III buffer for 2 hrs at 37°C, while the other half served as a control. After inactivation of endonuclease at 65°C for 20 min, the reactions were treated with NdeI and PstI and analyzed on the 20% polyacrylamide sequencing gels the same way as above.

2.8 Klenow Enzymes treatment:

The joined plasmids in the Bus cell extracts substituted with XLF were treated with Klenow and Klenow exonuclease⁻ with the addition of 1 mM ATP, dNTPs at 100 µM and 5µl CutSmart buffer for 30 min at 37°C, after the proteolysis and phenol/ethanol precipitation. After inactivation at 75°C for 20 min and phenol/ethanol precipitation, the reaction is digested with NdeI and PstI, and then analyzed on 20% polyacrylamide sequencing gels.

2.9 End joining by the recombinant proteins:

Ligation of the above prepared substrates was attempted using recombinant NHEJ proteins in a buffer containing 50mM Tris pH8, 200m, 100µg/ml BSA, 0.2Mm EDTA,0.1% Triton, 4mM DTT and 10% Poly ethylene glycol), substituted with 2mM ATP and 100mM MgCl₂. Proteins Ku, XRCC4 and XLF were dissolved in 1X of the above buffer. The total reaction volume was 10µl, with the protein concentrations of 10nM, 40nM and 100nM of Ku, XRCC4 and XLF respectively and 10ng of the labelled substrates. A third of the samples had only DNA and no proteins, a third of them had DNA with Ku and XRCC4 while the rest had all the three proteins and DNA. The reactions were incubated for 4 hours at 37°C. Samples were deproteinized by adding an End Joining Lysis buffer containing 0.3 M NaCl, 10Mm EDTA, 20 mM Tris pH 7.6, 1% SDS and 1mg/ml of Proteinase K for 3 hrs at 56°C. DNA was then extracted with phenol/chloroform and precipitated with ethanol for one hour. After the precipitation, all samples were dissolved in 43 µl of TE and digested with 20 units of NdeI and PstI after addition of 5 µl of 10X CutSmart buffer (New England Biolabs) at 37°C for 3 hrs. Gel electrophoresis of the samples was done in 20% polyacrylamide sequencing gels. Then the gels were exposed to phosphor imaging screen for1 to 2 days at -20°C. Data were analyzed using a Typhoon 9100 imager (GE Healthcare Bio-Sciences, Pittsburgh) and Image Quant 3.1 or 5.1software (GE Healthcare Bio-Sciences, Pittsburgh).

2.10 Statistics:

Error bars represent standard error of mean (SEM) for at least three independent experiments. Unpaired two-tailed t-tests were performed and the data were reported as significant for P values <0.05.



Fig 2.1: Preparation of the substrate: The oligonucleotide with Tg was radiolabeled with P^{32} at 5' end is annealed with a complementary strand. This was ligated to the BstAPI cut end of the pUC19 using T7 DNA Ligase. The substrate thus prepared had a head with BstAPI and NdeI restriction sites and a tail with SmaI and PstI restriction sites. This substrate was used in both cell extract ligation assay and assay with recombinant proteins.



Fig 2.2 :Assay Protocol: Radioactively labeled oligomeric duplexes, containing normal thymine or Tg at different positions were ligated with BstAPI digested pUC19. Following attempted ligation withT4 DNA ligase or with cell extract containing DNA Ligase IV, or purified proteins, plasmids were digested with either NdeI and PstI. Resulting fragment sizes on autoradiograph revealed the extent of ligation of the various substrates under the given conditions. Inter/intramolecular ligation between the oligomeric duplex end and the end cut with SmaI, generated a 44-nucleotide. Intermolecular ligation of two blunt ends of oligomeric duplex, generated a 36-nucleotide fragment upon digestion with NdeI in both sides. If there was no ligation there will be a 19-nucleotide fragment due to digetion by NdeI.



Fig 2.3: Base excision repair of the substrates: A) When base excision repair proteins recognize and remove the Tg from the third position in Tg3, instead of the 19- nucleotide fragment 16-nucleotide fragment was formed and there is no end joining. B) When the Tg from the Tg5 substrate is removed there was formation of 14- nucleotide fragment and there was no end joining.

III RESULTS

3.1 T4 DNA ligase assay to test interference with the end joining by thymine glycol

Thymine glycol at the DSB of DNA interferes with the efficiency of end joining, independent of the NHEJ process. T4 DNA ligase is a bacteriophage ligase that is capable of ligating cohesive or blunt termini of the DNA. Therefore, before testing for NHEJ activity, T4 ligase assay was done to determine whether the substrates could be ligated. Linearized substrate plasmids containing ³²P-labeled oligonucleotide duplexes with normal thymine or Tg at different positions from the termini (Tg1, Tg2, Tg3, Tg5) were evaluated for ligation following incubation with or without T4 DNA ligase. The ligation products were digested with NdeI and PstI in order to detect the fragments that were diagnostic of the efficiency of ligation (Figure 4-1). The unjoined substrate is indicated by a 19-base labeled fragment released by NdeI. For Tg-containing substrate, this 19-mer forms a doublet due to different stereoisomers of Tg. The joined substrate would appear as a 44-base band in the NdeI and PstI digestion of the DNA, if the ligation is head-tail in intra or inter molecular ligation. In case of intermolecular ligation head-head, digestion with NdeI (with or without PstI) would yield a 36-bp fragment.

Results of the assay show that T4 Ligase could efficiently ligate the unmodified plasmid headtail (61%) and head-head (7%). When the substrates with Tg at different positions were used there was an increasing efficiency of joining with the increasing distance, Tg1 - 1.6%, Tg2-1.9%, Tg3-36%, Tg5-44%. The joining was only in Head-Tail (44) in Tg1 and Tg2 and some head-head (36Tg) joining was observed in Tg3 and Tg5 (1.7% and 5.2% respectively). This shows that T4 Ligase was able to ligate the plasmids with Tg at blunt ends with minimal effeciency in Tg1 and Tg2, but as the distance of the Tg from the end increased there was also an increased ligation as observed in Tg3 and Tg5.



Fig 3.1: T4 Ligase Assay: 1) Gel displaying ligation of the plasmids Tg0, Tg1, Tg2, Tg3 and Tg5 with and without T4 Ligase followed by digestion with NdeI and PstI 2) Graph representing the efficiency of ligation of the plasmids in percentage 44-mer indicative of head-tail end joining, 36Tg-mer indicative of head-head ligation with Tg in position. 36-mer indicative of head-head end joining.

3.2 Ability of NHEJ to ligate the substrate with Tg5 in Bus cell extracts in the presence and absence of XLF:

Previous experiments with Bus cell extracts showed significantly greater end joining with Tg3 than Tg1 and Tg2. Therefore, ligation of the substrate with Tg at the fifth position Tg5 was attempted using XLF deficient Bus cell extract in a time dependent fashion to observe the effect of further distancing Tg from the end. The experiment was done with and without XLF addition. The end joining was evaluated after digestion with NdeI and PstI enzymes. The control with inactive extract shows 36Tg band due small amount of the head-head end joining during preparation of the substrate. In the presence of XLF there was an increase in the end joining with time both head-tail (44) and head-head (36). There was head-head joining with Tg still present in the joined product (36Tg) which can be seen as a shifted band above the 36-base fragment, which has the Tg removed and substituted with thymine. The 36-base strand has palindromic bases and hence snaps back on itself to form a hair pin structure. The hair pin bend thus formed accelerates the mobility of the 36-base strands. The shift of 36Tg was because of the interference of the Tg with the snap back of the strand on itself. The formation of 36-base strand was delayed compared to that of the 44-base strand. With time there was a minimal decrease in the joined head- tail (44-base) fragment. In addition to the 19-base fragment which represents non-joining, there was a 14-base fragment, presumably as a result of BER. The appearance of this 14-base fragment was earlier and greater in magnitude than the end joining (44) fragment. In the absence of XLF, there was no detectable end joining head-tail (44-base) but there was 36Tg and early appearance of 36-base band. This was likely due to conversion of the 36Tg which was formed during preparation of substrate, to 36-base strand by BER and it was partially suppressed in the presence of XLF as shown by the delayed appearance. There was an extra band below the

36-base band due to joining of the repaired strands with a few nucleotides removed before end joining. There was an earlier appearance of the 14-bases strand in the absence than in the presence of XLF may be due some inhibition, which needs further evaluation. This data proves that presence of XLF is essential for the end joining reaction.



Fig 3.2: The ability of NHEJ to rejoin DSBs with Tg at the fifth position (Tg5): Time dependent end joining assays in whole-cell extracts of XLF-deficient Bus fibroblasts with and without XLF substitution, with plasmid with Tg at the fifth position from the break. Extracts were supplemented with 200nM XLF.

3.3 Effect of Endonuclease and ddTTP on the end joining:

Previously, studies showed that the plasmids containing proximal Tg were joined with Tg still present in the joined fragments. To test this in the case of Tg5substrate, Bus Cell Extract assay was done in the presence of either ddTTP or dTTP. They are divided in to equal halves, one half was treated with Endonuclease III (other half was used as a control), after the end ligation step but before digesting with the restriction enzymes. ddTTP functions as a DNA chain terminator and hence inhibits the end joining. Endonuclease III recognizes and removes Tg from the DNA. Substitution with ddTTP was found to reduce the intensity of the joined fragments but did not inhibit the joining in total. Treatment with Endonuclease III reduced the end joining, as shown by the reduced intensity of radioactivity of the head-tail 44-base strand. Treatment with both Endonuclease and ddTTP further reduced the intensity of the joined fragment. This experiment proves that Tg was not removed from the strand before ligation in at least some end joining events. In some cases Tg was removed and replaced with thymine, but the experiment does not distinguish whether such replacement occurred before or after end joining.



Fig 3.3: The effect of the ddTTP and Endonuclease III on the joined fragment (44): A) Autoradiograph showing the effect of substitution of ddTTP for dTTP during incubation and Endonuclease III treatment after the ligation step and before the digestion with NdeI and PstI. B) Graph displaying the percentage of 44-base strand on treatment with ddTTP and Endonuclease III.

3.4 Comparison of End Joining and Base Excision repair between Tg3 and Tg5 in cell extracts:

To compare the end joining of the plasmids Tg0, Tg3 and Tg5, all three were incubated in either heat inactivated cell extracts or Bus cell extracts supplemented with XLF. After treating with NdeI and PstI, repair of these substrates showed that Tg0 has 40% total end joining, Tg3 has14% and Tg5 has 10%. Thus there was more end joining in Tg3. In addition to the 19-base fragment, there was 16-base fragment in the Tg3 repair lane and a 14-bp fragment in the Tg5 lane. This was assumed to be due to the base excision repair of the substrate. The intensity of the 16-bp fragment (48.5%) is greater than 14-bp fragment(7.6%). Thus, there was much more base excision repair with Tg5 compared to Tg3 evident also from the unjoined and unprocessed substrate (19-base fragment) was higher in intensity for Tg3 than Tg5 as shown in the Fig 3.5. The increased distance of Tg from the end had apparently provided access for the BER repair proteins for the excision process and thereby decreased the end joining. Unpaired Two tailed tests performed revealed that Tg0 and Tg5 had a statistically significant difference (p<0.0003) for the end joining, and Tg3 and Tg5 had p<0.02, thus statistically significant.



Fig 3.4: Comparison of the repair between Tg3 and Tg5: A) Autoradiograph showing the repair (joining and BER) fragments of Tg0, Tg3 and Tg5 in Bus cell extracts supplemented with XLF. B) Graph representing the percentage of both joining and BER fragment for Tg3 and Tg5.

3.5 Assessment for fill in and ligation after BER:

After the BER, the DNA strand repaired was expected to be filled in and ligated. However, even after 6 hours of incubation there was no or minimal change in the 14-base fragment. To assess the ability of this strand to be filled in, Klenow enzymes which can add nucleotide to the 3'end if there is a compatible 3' OH group and a suitable template strand were used. After the end joining reaction in inactivated extracts and 0.25 or 6 hrs in cell extracts substituted with XLF, the reaction was treated with either Klenow or Klenow exonuclease (Klenow fragment which has lost its 3'-5' exonuclease activity). Klenow fragment was able to add the nucleotides to 14 base fragment producing bands corresponding to fragments between 14 and 19 bases in length. For the 0.25 hrs sample the entire 14-base band disappears to higher levels but at 6 hrs some of it is still present. Klenow exo⁻ added an extra nucleotide to 19-base fragment and nucleotides to 14base fragments at 0.25 and 6 hrs. There was a complete disappearance of the 14-base band at 0.25hrs whereas at 6hrs not all of it disappears. This persistence of the 14-base fragment and the productions of base fragments between 14 - 20 bands at 6 hrs could be probably due to the degradation of the complementary stand to various lengths. There was also a shift in the headtail joined fragment to a smaller oligonucleotide level below 44-base band on treatment with Klenow fragment and shift of the 36Tg and 36-base band to a higher level. There is no change in the 44-base band with Klenow Exo, but a higher shift in 36Tg and 36-base strands was observed. This data reveals that there was a 3'-OH group at the 14-base fragment end which was not filled in the extracts. The shift observed in 36Tg and 36-base bands might have been due to filling of the 5' overhangs produced by the NdeI digestion on either side of the DNA, by the 5'-3' polymerase activity of Klenow and Klenow Exo. Shift of the 44-base fragment with the Klenow enzyme is difficult to be explained since this band represents an NdeI/PstI fragment generated after Klenow removal and there should have been no free 3' terminus available for modification during treatment with Klenow.



Fig 3.5: Testing with the Klenow and Klenow exonuclease⁻: Autoradiographs displaying the effect of A) Klenow fragment and B) Klenow Exonuclease⁻ on the BER products generated in the end joining of the Tg5 plasmids in Bus cell extracts with XLF

3.6 Effect of Tg position on total, head-head and head-tail end joining:

To assess the total extent of ligation, the ligation of Tg0, Tg3 and Tg5 were analyzed on a 0.8% agarose gel after the end joining step after proteolysis. This was compared to that of the same reactions treated with SmaI after proteolysis. When all the possible end joining of the substrates are considered, both Tg3 and Tg5 have similar extent of ligation. When the restriction enzyme SmaI was used, there is diminished total end joining in case of Tg5. The similar ligation observed for Tg3 and Tg5 was due to joining of the plasmids at the tail ends which are not modified and also in Tg5 the tail ends were available for end joining as they was less ligation to head. SmaI by cleaving this end joining reduced the intensity leaving the joined fragments only in head-tail and head-head. This result confirms the reduced joining of the Tg-containing end of Tg5, as compared to Tg3, due to interference with BER.


Fig 3.6: Effect of Tg position on total, head-head and head-tail end joining:Autoradiograph showing the total end joining of the unmodified (Tg0), Tg3 and Tg5 in the top lane and the result of treatment of Sma I in the below lane.

3.7 Time dependent end joining and base excision repair of Tg3 and Tg5 plasmid:

To analyze the kinetics of repair, cell extract ligation assay was performed with Tg3 and Tg5 at different time endpoints of 0.25, 0.5, 1, 2, 4, 6, 12 hours of incubation. There was an increased head-head and head-tail end joining with time. From the graph Fig 3.7 B, it is evident that BER was more active reaching its peak earlier than the end joining. There was no significant increase in the end joining even after the BER had reached the plateau. This inability of the 14-base fragment to be filled in and ligated has been already addressed above in the result 3.5 using Klenow enzymes.



Fig 3.7: Time dependent repair kinetics of Tg3 and Tg5: A) Autoradiograph displaying the intensities of the repair fragments as a function of time. B) Graphs displaying the percentage of the joined and BER fragments Tg3 in the top and Tg5 below as a function of time.

3.8 Recombinant protein assay:

After cell extract assays, end joining assays were performed with unmodified, Tg1, Tg2, Tg3, and Tg5 using recombinant NHEJ proteins- Ku, X4L4 and /or XLF to observe the effect of these core NHEJ proteins on the substrates in the absence of other repair factors. Data showed that the unmodified fragment was ligated both in head-tail (44) and head-head (36) with 9% ligation in the presence of XLF and 2% in the absence of XLF. Tg1 plasmid showed 0.4% ligation head-tail (44) only in the presence of XLF. Tg2 had a slightly higher, 0.6% ligation of the same. Tg3 on the other hand has ligation, 0.1% in the absence of the XLF and 2.3% in the presence of XLF. In the presence of XLF, there was also a head-head ligation 1% (36Tg), with Tg in place. Tg5 also displayed repair in both head - head (0.2%) and head-tail (2%) in the absence of XLF. XLF enhanced the ligation of Tg5 to 4% in head-tail fashion and 2% in head-head fashion. Thus ligation improved with the increased distance of Tg from the end. But the ligation as a whole was 3-5 fold less than that observed in extracts, which would suggest the requirement for other repair factors for the most efficient ligation.



Fig 3.8: Repair by the recombinant NHEJ proteins Ku, X4L4 and/or XLF of Tg0, Tg1, Tg2, Tg3 and Tg5: A) Autoradiograph showing the extent of joining of the plasmids by the proteins B) Graph displaying the percentage of joining by the proteins in the presence and absence of XLF.

IV DISCUSSION

Radiotherapy is a "double edged sword" inducing genetic mutations in the surrounding normal tissue while causing a loss of clonogenic survival of tumor cells ⁽²⁶⁷⁾. IR has the propensity to induce more than a single lesion in the DNA in one or two helical turns, known as "clustered damage" including the modified bases, SSBs and DSBs. These clustered lesion show reduced reparability when compared with that of individual lesions ⁽²⁶⁸⁾. And when these lesions are in combination with DSB they were the poor substrates for repair ^(43, 72)

Thymine glycol being the most common modified/oxidized base formed during radiotherapy, ⁽⁷⁶⁾ is repaired mainly by Base Excision Repair Pathway ⁽⁷⁶⁾. NHEJ repair pathway proteins, comprising DNA-PK, XLF, the X4L4 complex, and polymerases belonging to PolX family, have the ability to ligate the termini of DNA breaks that do not require extensive processing, with high efficiency. However, many DSB are associated with complex lesions that can be barriers to the end joining ⁽²⁶⁶⁾. The current study involves the evaluation of effect of the presence of thymine glycol on the NHEJ repair pathway in cell extracts and by recombinant proteins.

T4 ligase, the bacteriophage ligase has been shown to efficiently ligate the blunt, compatible, non-compatible ⁽²⁶⁹⁾ and branched DNA ends ⁽²⁷¹⁾. Ligation assay with T4 Ligase was done to assess its ability to ligate modified DNA ends as compared to X4L4 which presumably evolved specifically to ligate the modified substrates. Assays revealed that T4 Ligase can ligate the unmodified ends efficiently. The modified substrates joining efficiency increase with the increasing distance of the modified base from the end. This joining was head-tail (44) both in inter and intra molecular fashion, where only one end is modified, with increasing ligation as the Tg is moved to increasing distance from the end. In contrast, presence of the Tg at both the completely blocked head-head joining (36Tg bp) in Tg1 and Tg2, but allowed some joining in Tg3 and Tg5 with the thymine glycol in place (36Tg). As there were no other processes to remove Tg from the strand, the strands are ligated with Tg in place. The 36Tg band is higher than the 36-base band as there was a palindromic sequence in the strand which formed a hair pin bend in 36-base oligonucleotide. Tg interfered with the formation of this hair pin structure in 36Tg, retarding the mobility. Thus, presence of Tg near the end of the DSB distorted the ends such that T4 Ligase could not ligate the end but when moved just a few bases away from the end there was ligation.

Previous studies in our laboratory with the Bus cell extracts using substrates Tg1, Tg2 and Tg3 revealed that the ends with Tg at the first and the second position of the DSB are less joined head-tail and not joined head-head. But Tg3 showed repair almost equal to unmodified ends both head-tail and some joining head-head. In the current study substrate with Tg at the fifth position (Tg5) is used to observe the trend of the repair with the increased distance from the end in the cell extracts. Bus cell extracts which are XLF deficient were used to detect the ligation of the substrates. Ligation is assessed in the extracts in the presence and absence of XLF in a time

dependent fashion. Two main observations were made in this process. There was an increase in both head-tail and head-head with XLF substitution. But there was base excision repair in both the presence and absence of the XLF. But the BER appears to be inhibited initially in the presence of XLF as evident from the Fig 3.2, there was less and delayed BER in the reaction with XLF. There was a 36Tg oligonucleotide strand formed during the preparation of the substrate due to the some ligation of the blunt ends in head-head fashion. This 36Tg stand could be observed in the control treated with inactive extract. In the absence of XLF this 36Tg strand was converted to 36-base strand early by the BER and not in its presence. This might be because the presence of XLF had inhibitory effect on BER. This effect of XLF on BER should be evaluated further. There was also some ligation of the BER repaired strand and it appears below the 36 base band because of loss of some nucleotides. Base excision repair appeared to be activated almost immediately in the first quarter of the hour, repairing the end forming the 14base oligonucleotide with the removal of Tg at the fifth position in the 19-base unjoined strand. Though there was a halt in the BER as shown by the intensity of the 14-base strand, there was no significant increase in the end joining of the plasmid.

The plasmids Tg1, Tg2 and Tg3 were shown to be ligated with Tg still in position. The same was tested with Tg at 5th position. Addition of ddTTP which blocks the extension of the strand by polymerases and ligation of the strands, instead of dTTP while incubation had reduced but did not eliminate the intensity of the radioactivity suggesting that Tg had not been totally removed from all strands and at least in some instances they were ligated with the Tg in position, proving that Tg in the fifth position is not a hindrance for the end joining. Treatment with Endonuclease III after the ligation step removed Tg from the ligated strand and reduced the radioactivity of the

joined fragment, which is also consistent with the above result. There was further decrease in the intensity of the joined fragment with ddTTP and Endonuclease III due to the presence of some normal thymidine in the extract.

Modified bases placed at different positions from the break displayed different repair characteristic depending on the type of the lesion. As discussed in the study of the effect of the glycosylases, NTHI, OGGI and NEILI on lesions 5-hydroxyuracil (5-OHU) and 8-oxoguanine (8-oxoG), the repair is variable depending on the type and position of the lesion ^[272]. Previous studies in the lab revealed that there was no detectable BER prior to end joining for Tg1 or Tg2, some was observed in Tg3. To evaluate the effect of increasing the distance of Tg from the DSB on the repair of the modified substrates in Bus cell extracts, Tg5 repair was studied in comparison with the Tg3 substrates. This experiment revealed that there was a reduced end joining for Tg5. In addition, there was much more extensive activation of the Base excision repair pathway for Tg5 than that observed for Tg3. This observation denotes that the positioning of the Tg at the ends in DSB can result in poor binding and low activity for the BER proteins and increased distance from the end provides a better substrate for the activity of BER. When the time-dependent kinetics for both Tg3 and Tg5 were studied, BER pathway was activated almost immediately compared to the end joining repair. While the BER reached the plateau at 1 hour time point, the end joining did not show a significant increase. This observation led to question of the end processing of the substrate by BER proteins as APE1 should leave a compatible 3'-OH group and either pol λ /pol μ (NHEJ) or pol β (BER) should have filled in the gap for end joining. There was less increase in the end joining than expected of it with time even in the presence of a robust BER. In order to test for the compatibility of the repaired 3' end for the addition of nucleotides Klenow enzymes (Klenow fragment and Klenow Exonuclease-) were used. Klenow

enzyme was able to add nucleotides to the 14-bases strand resulted from BER, producing multiple bands between 14 -19- bases. At 0.25 hrs there was complete disappearance of the 14bases strand to the higher levels while some of it was still in place at 6hrs. Though there should be a conversion of the whole 14-base strand to 19-bases at 0.25 hrs due to the polymerase activity of the Klenow fragment, its exonuclease activity dominated producing bands of various length. At 6hrs, the bands from 14 to 19-base strand indicate that the complementary strand has been digested over time. This addition of the nucleotides suggests that the 3' end of the 14-base strand has OH group and can be filled in. When Klenow exonuclease- enzyme was used, in addition to filling the nucleotides from 14-base -19-base, it added an extra nucleotide to the 19base strand. This was because of lack of the exonuclease activity which allowed the polymerase activity to add nucleotides to the 14- base strand and convert it completely in to 19-base or 20base strand at 0.25 hrs, as the complementary strand is completely intact. As the complementary strand was digested to variable lengths in cell extracts by 6 hrs of incubation, multiple bands were formed due to the polymerase function. An extra nucleotide was added to the 19-base strand as there was no exonuclease activity ^[270]. This result indicated that the BER product had a compatible 3' OH for the polymerases in the cell extracts to fill in. The reason why extracts could not do it, needs to be evaluated further. The shift in the 36Tg and 36-bases fragment with both the enzymes might have been due to the filling of the ends with 5 'overhangs created by the NdeI digestion in 3'-5' direction by the polymerase activity of the Klenow and Klenow Exo- enzyme.

When the total end joining efficiency of the Tg5 was compared with that of Tg3 in the extract using agarose gels, there was an equal amount of total end joining in Tg3 and Tg5. This was due to the tail- tail ligations, which do not have Tg and hence ligated efficiently. And also as the end-joining head-tail was less with Tg5, there was more availability of tails for the joining.

SmaI had reduced the intensity of the joined fragments in Tg5 by cleaving these tail-tail ligations, leaving the head-head and head-tail ligations intact. Thus joining of the Tg-containing end was less for Tg5 than Tg3, due to interference by BER in Tg5.

End joining assays in the previous studies with the recombinant proteins have shown that compatible ends can be repaired efficiently even in the absence of the XLF protein and there was moderate and strong stimulation of the ligation of the blunt and incompatible ends respectively by XLF⁽²⁶⁹⁾. Based on this, repair of the blunt ends with the Tg was attempted using core NHEJ recombinant proteins Ku, X4/L4 and XLF. Tg1 and Tg2 required the presence of XLF for ligation, while Tg3 and Tg5 displayed some ligation even in the absence of the XLF. The extent of ligation of Tg3 and Tg5 was boosted 5-6 fold when XLF is added. Presence of the Tg at the ends might have resulted in their distortion making it impossible for the Ku and X4L4 to join these ends. XLF along with XRCC4 forms a filament across the DNA ends perhaps stabilizing the alignment of distorted ends. In addition, XLF might have helped to overcome the limitation by stimulating the LigaseIV activity due to its re-adenylation function ^[210-213], allowing the end joining. Previous studies in the lab showed that XLF was an absolute requirement in extracts for the end joining reaction by NHEJ irrespective of the position of the Tg. In contrast, there is some ligation in the absence of XLF in Tg3 and Tg5 in the study of recombinant proteins. This could be due to competition between some other repair proteins and X4L4 in extracts for the DSB or failure of the more distorted ends to stimulate the ligase activity of X4L4. Under these conditions, XLF was required to promote the ligation. These ligated products had Tg, as there was no processing of proximal Tg residues in the ends due to lack of the BER proteins required for the same. The extent of joining with the purified proteins was 3-5 fold less than the joining in the extracts suggesting that other structural and enzymatic proteins are required to efficiently stimulate the end joining in extracts.

In future, the effect of other proteins of NHEJ such as DNAPKcs, PAXX is to be tested to analyze the effect of these proteins on the end joining. BER proteins, NTH1 and NEILI with/without APEI can be added to the NHEJ proteins to study the effect on the modified plasmids. These modified plasmids can be transfected in to cells to study the repair by other repair proteins and pathways which may not have survived the extraction process. Repair of these substrates can be evaluated after the DNA isolation and RT-PCR with the primers on either side of the DNA modification and also analyzed by high-throughput DNA sequencing.

V.CONCLUSION

The position of the modified base (Tg) alters the end joining of the blunt ends. Tg also affected the activity of the base excision repair. In the cell extracts the Base excision repair pathway was more active and competes with the End joining reaction especially if the base was far from the end shown by the more joining for Tg3 and more Base excision repair for the Tg5. XLF was mandatory for the repair of the plasmids in extracts. Recombinant proteins more efficiently repaired the plasmids when Tg was located further away from the DSB, suggesting possible less distortion of the ends. The absolute requirement for XLF in the repair of plasmids with Tg near the end reiterates its role in stimulating X4L4 at the incompatible ends. XLF is required by X4L4 enzyme to overcome the competition with other proteins in the extract at the DSB. Decreased repair by purified proteins denotes the requirement of other proteins and repair mechanisms for the effective repair of these complex lesions.

LIST OF REFERENCES

LIST OF REFERENCES

- 1. Delaney G, Jacob S, Featherstone C, Barton M. The role of radiotherapy in cancer treatment: estimating optimal utilization from a review of evidence-based clinical guidelines. Cancer 2005; 104(6): 1129-37.
- 2. Urruticoechea A, Alemany R, Balart J, Villanueva A, Viñals F and Capellá G. Translational Research Laboratory, IDIBELL-Institut Català d'Oncologia, Spain. Current Pharmaceutical Design, 2010, 16, 3-10
- Ringborg U, Bergqvist D, Brorsson B, Cavallin-Stahl E, Ceberg J, Einhorn N, Frodin JE, Jarhult J, Lamnevik G, Lindholm C, Littbrand B, Norlund A, Nylen U, Rosen M, Svensson H, Moller TR. The Swedish Council on Technology Assessment in Health Care (SBU) systematic overview of radiotherapy for cancer including a prospective survey of radiotherapy practice in Sweden 2001–summary and conclusions. Acta Oncol. 2003;42(5– 6):357–365.
- 4. Hall EI (1988) Cell-survival curves, In: Radiobiology for radiobiologist . Lippincott Company. Philadelphia. 18-38.
- 5. Huang LC Clarkin KC. Wahl GM (1996) Sensitivity and selectivity of tile DNA damage sensor responsible for activating p53 independent G1 arrest. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 93 4827-4832.
- 6. Duchaud E. Ridet A. Stoppe-Lyonnet D, Janin N, Moustacchi E, Rosselli F (1996) Deregulaled apoptosis in Ataxia telangiectasia: association with clinical stigmata and radiosensitivity, Cancer Res 56, 1400 -1404.
- 7. Frankenberg-Schwager, M., Frankenberg, D. and Blocherd, Adamczyk, C. The effect of dose rate on the production of DNA double-strand breaks. Radiat. Res. 87: 710-717, 1981.
- 8. Jeggo PA. Studies on mammalian mutants defective in rejoining double-strand breaks in DNA. Mutat. Res. 239: 1-16,1990.
- 9. Kemp LM, Sedgwick SG and Jeggo PA. X-ray sensitive 'mutants Chinese hamster ovary cells defective in double-strand break rejoining. Mutat. Res. 132: 189-196, 1984.
- 10. Baudat F, Imai Y, de Massy B. 2013. Meiotic recombination in mammals: localization and regulation. Nat Rev Genet. 14(11):794-806.

- 11. Borde V, de Massy B. 2013. Programmed induction of DNA double strand breaks during meiosis: setting up communication between DNA and the chromosome structure. Curr Opin. Genet Dev. 23(2):147-55.
- 12. Jackson SP1, Bartek J. The DNA-damage response in human biology and disease. Nature. 2009 Oct 22;461(7267):1071-8.
- 13. Longhese MP, et al. (2009) DNA double-strand breaks in meiosis: checking their formation, processing and repair. DNA Repair (Amst) 8(9):1127-38.
- 14. Tsai AG, Lieber MR. (2010) BMC Genomics Suppl. 111, S1.
- 15. Douki T, Reynaud-Angelin A, Cadet J, Sage E (2003). "Bipyrimidine photoproducts rather than oxidative lesions are the main type of DNA damage involved in the genotoxic effect of solar UVA radiation". Biochemistry 42 (30): 9221–6.
- 16. Cadet J, Delatour T, Douki T, Gasparutto D, Pouget JP, Ravanat JL, Sauvaigo S (1999). "Hydroxyl radicals and DNA base damage". Mutat Res 424 (1–2): 9–21.
- 17. Beckman KB, Ames BN (1997). "Oxidative decay of DNA". J. Biol. Chem. 272 (32): 19633-6.
- 18. Valerie K, Povirk LF (2003). "Regulation and mechanisms of mammalian double-strand break repair". Oncogene 22 (37): 5792–812.
- 19. Simsek D, Jasin M. Alternative end-joining is suppressed by the canonical NHEJ component Xrcc4-ligase IV during chromosomal translocation formation. Nat Struct Mol Biol 2010; 17:410-6.
- 20. Ghezraoui H, Piganeau M, Renouf B, Renaud JB, Sallmyr A, Ruis B, Oh S, Tomkinson AE, Hendrickson EA, Giovannangeli C, Chromosomal translocations in human cells are generated by canonical nonhomologous end-joining. Mol Cell 2014; 55:829-42.
- 21. Rai R, Zheng H, He H, Luo Y, Multani A, Carpenter PB, Chang S. The function of classical and alternative non-homologous end-joining pathways in the fusion of dysfunctional telom eres. EMBO J 2010; 29:2598-610.
- 22. Kass EM, Jasin M. Collaboration and competition between DNA double-strand break repair pathways FEBS Lett., 584 (2010), pp. 3703–3708
- 23. Polo SE, Jackson SP. Dynamics of DNA damage response proteins at DNA breaks: a focus on protein modifications Genes Dev., 25 (2011), pp. 409–433.
- 24. Friedberg EC, Walker GC, Siede W, Wood RD, Schultz RA, Ellenberger T. 2006. DNA repair and mutagenesis, 2nd ed. ASM Press, New York.
- 25. d'Adda di Fagagna F, Reaper PM, Clay-Farrace L, Fiegler H, Carr P, Von Zglinicki T, Saretzki G, Carter NP, Jackson SP. A DNA damage checkpoint response in telomereinitiated senescence. Nature. 2003 Nov 13;426 (6963):194-8.

- 26. Blaisdell JO, Harrison L, Wallace SS. Base excision repair processing of radiation-induced clustered DNA lesions. Radiat. Prot. Dosimetry. 2001;97:25–31.
- 27. Harrison L, Hatahet Z, Purmal AA, Wallace SS. Multiply damaged sites in DNA: interactions with Escherichia coli endonucleases III and VIII. Nucleic Acids Res. 1998;26:932–941.
- 28. Ward JF, Some biochemical consequences of the spatial distribution of ionizing radiation produced free radicals. Radiat Res 1981; 86:185–95.
- 29. Goodhead DT, Munson RJ, Thacker J, Cox R, Mutation and inactivation of cultured mammalian cells exposed to beams of accelerated heavy ions IV. Biophysical interpretation. Int J Radiat Biol 1980; 37:135–67.
- 30. Ward JF, Biochemistry of DNA lesions. Radiat Res 1985; 104:S103–S11.
- 31. Ward JF, Blakely WF, Joner EI, Mammalian cells are not killed by DNA single-strand breaks caused by hydroxyl radicals from hydrogen peroxide. Radiat Res 1985; 103:383–92.
- 32. Goodhead DT, Initial events in the cellular effects of ionizing radiations: clustered damage in DNA. Int J Radiat Biol 1994; 65:7–17.
- Datta KP, Jaruga P, Dizaroglu M, et al. Molecular analysis of base damage clustering associated with a site-specific radiation-induced DNA double-strand break Radiat Res, 166 (2006), pp. 767–781
- Datta K, Neumann RD, Winters TA. Characterization of complex apurinic/apyrimidinicsite clustering associated with an authentic site-specific radiation-induced DNA doublestrand break Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 102 (2005), pp. 10569–10574
- 35. Datta K, Purkayastha S, Newmann RD, et al. Base damage immediately upstream from double-strand break ends is a more severe impediment to nonhomologous end joining than blocked 3'-termini Radiat Res, 175 (2011), pp. 97–112.
- Pouget J-P, Frelon S, Ravanat J-L, Testard I, Odin F and Cadet J. (2002) Formation of modified DNA bases in cells exposed either to gamma radiation or to high-LET particles. Radiat. Res., 157, 589–595.
- Cadet J, Douki T. and Ravanat J-L. (2008) Oxidatively generateddamage to the guanine moiety of DNA: mechanic aspects and formation in cells. Acc. Chem. Res., 41, 1075– 1083.
- Frelon,S., Douki,T., Ravanat,J-L., Pouget,J.P., Tornabene,C. andCadet,J. Highperformance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry measurement of radiationinduced base damage to isolated and cellular DNA. Chem. Res. Toxicol., 13, 1002–1010 (15–17).
- 39. Stewart RD, On the complexity of the DNA damages created by endogenous processes. Radiat Res 1999; 152:101–04

- 40. Bennett PV, Cintron NS, Gros L, Laval J, Sutherland BM, Are endogenous clustered DNA damages induced in human cells? Free Rad Biol Med 2004; 37:488–99.
- 41. Bennett PV, Cuomo NL, Paul S, Tafrov ST, Sutherland BM, Endogenous DNA damage clusters in human skin, 3-D model and cultured skin cells. Free Radic Biol Med 2005; 39:832–39.
- 42. Ward JF, DNA damage produced by ionizing radiation in mammalian cells: identities, mechanisms of formation, and repairability. Prog Nucleic Acid Res Mol Biol 1988; 35:95–125.
- 43. Georgakilas AG, Processing of DNA damage clusters in human cells: Current status of knowledge. Mol Biosyst 2008; 4:30–35.
- 44. Semenenko VA, Stewart RD, Fast Monte Carlo simulation of DNA damage formed by electrons and light ions. Phys Med Biol 2006; 51:1693–706.
- 45. Thomlinson RH, L.H. Gray LH. The histological structure of some human lung cancers and the possible implications for radiotherapy Br J Cancer, 1955; 539–549.
- 46. Das P, Sutherland BM, Processing of abasic DNA clusters in hApeI-silenced primary fibroblasts exposed to low doses of X-irradiation. J Biosci 2011; 36:105–16.
- 47. Kutuzov MM, Ilina ES, Sukhanova MV, Pyshnaya IA, Pyshnyi DV, Lavrik OI, et al. Interaction of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase 1 with apurinic/apyrimidinic sites within clustered DNA damage. Biochemistry (Mosc) 2011; 76:147–56.
- 48. Eccles LJ, Lomax ME, O'Neill P. Hierarchy of lesion processing governs the repair, double-strand break formation and mutability of three-lesion clustered DNA damageNucleic Acids Res, 38 (2010), 1123–1134.
- 49. Bellon S, Shikazonon N, Cunniffe S, et al. Processing of thymine glycol in a clustered DNA damage site: mutagenic or cytotoxic. Nucleic Acids Res, 37 (2009), pp. 4430–4440.
- 50. Harper JV, Anderson JA, O'Neill P, Radiation induced DNA DSBs: Contribution from stalled replication forks? DNA Repair 2010; 9:907–13.
- 51. Eot-Houllier G, Eon-Marchais S, Gasparutto D, Sage E, Processing of a complex multiply damaged DNA site by human cell extracts and purified repair proteins. Nucleic Acids Res 2005; 33:260–71.
- 52. Lomax ME, Cunniffe S, O'Neill P, 8-OxoG retards the activity of the ligase III/XRCC1 complex during the repair of a single-strand break, when present within a clustered DNA damage site. DNA Repair 2004; 3:289–99.
- 53. Alexandros G. Georgakilasa, Peter O'Neillc and Robert D. Stewartd Induction and Repair of Clustered DNA Lesions: What Do We Know So Far? Radiation Research 180(1):100-109. 2013.

- Groth P, Orta ML, Elvers I. Homologous recombination repairs secondary replication induced DNA double-strand breaks after ionizing radiation Nucleic Acids Res, 40 (2012), pp. 6585–6594
- 55. Arnaudeau C, Lundin C, Helleday T. DNA double-strand breaks associated with replication forks are predominantly repaired by homologous recombination involving an exchange mechanism in mammalian cells J Mol Biol, 307 (2001), pp. 1235–1245
- 56. Hair JM, Terzoudi GI, Hatzi VI, et al. BRCA1 role in the mitigation of radiotoxicity and chromosomal instability through repair of clustered DNA lesions Chem Biol Interact, 188 (2010), pp. 350–358.
- 57. Teoule R, Bert C, Bonicel A.1977Thymine fragment damage retained in the DNA polynucleotide chain after gamma irradiation in aerated solutions. II Radiat. Res. 72190-200.
- 58. Adelman R, Saul RL, Ames BN. 1988Oxidative damage to DNA: relation to species metabolic rate and life span Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 852706–2708.
- 59. Hsiang Chuan Kung and Philip H. Bolton.Structure of a Duplex DNA Containing a Thymine Glycol Residue in Solution. Vol. 272, No. 14, Issue of April 4, pp. 9227–9236, 1997.
- 60. Lustig MJ, Cadet J, Boorstein RJ, Teebor G.W. 1992Synthesis of the diastereomers of thymidine glycol, determination of concentrations and rates of interconversion of their cistrans epimers at equilibrium and demonstration of differential alkali lability within DNA. Nucleic Acids Res. 204839–4845.
- 61. Vaishnav Y, Holwitt E, Swenberg C, Lee H.-C., Kan L.-S. 1991Synthesis and characterization of stereoisomers of 5, 6-dihydro-5,6-dihydroxythymidine J. Biomol. Struct. Dyn. 8935–951
- 62. Kao J.Y, Goljer I, Phan TA, Bolton PH. 1993 Characterization of the effects of a thymine glycol residue on the structure, dynamics, and stability of duplex DNA by NMR J. Biol. Chem. 26817787–17793.
- 63. Kung HC. and Bolton PH. (1997) Structure of a duplex DNA containing a thymine glycol residue in solution. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 272, 9227-9236.
- 64. Hayes R. C, Petrullo LA, Huang H, Wallace SS and LeClerc JE. (1988) J. Mol. Biol. 201, 239–246.
- 65. Basu AK, Loechler, E. L., Leadon SA and Essigmann, JM. (1989) Genetic effects of thymine glycol:site-specific mutagenesis and molecular modeling studies. Proc.Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 86, 7677–7681.
- 66. Clark, J. M., and Beardsley, G. P. (1986). Thymine glycols and urea residues in m13 DNA constitute replicative blocks in vitro. Nucleic Acids Res. 14, 737–749.

- 67. Hayes RC, and LeClerc JE. (1986). Sequence dependence for bypass of thymine glycols in DNA by DNA-polymerase-I. Nucleic Acids Res. 14, 1045–1061.
- 68. Ide H, Kow YW and Wallace, S. S. (1985) Thymine glycols and urea residues in M13 DNA constitute replicative blocks in vitro. Nucleic Acids Res. 13, 8035–8052
- 69. Rouet P, and Essigmann JM. (1985). Possible role for thymine glycol in the selective inhibition of DNA synthesis on oxidized DNA templates. Cancer Res. 45, 6113–6118.
- 70. Iida S, and Hayatsu H. (1970) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 213, 1-13.
- 71. Evans J, Maccabee M, Hatahet ., Courcelle J, Bockrath R, Ide H. and Wallace SS. (1993) Thymine ring saturation and fragmentation products - lesion bypass, misinsertion and implications for mutagenesis. Mutation Research, 299, 147-156.
- 72. Wallace SS. (2002) Biological consequences of free radical-damaged DNA bases. Free Radical Biology and Medicine, 33, 1-14.
- 73. McNulty JM, Jerkovic B, Bolton PH and Basu AK. (1998) Replication inhibition and miscoding properties of DNA templates containing a site-specific cis-thymine glycol or urea residue. Chemical Research in Toxicology, 11, 666-673.
- Gasparutto D, Ait-Abbas M, Jaquinod M, Boiteux S and Cadet J. (2000) Repair and coding properties of 5-hydroxy-5-methylhydantoin nucleosides inserted into DNA oligomers. Chemical Research in Toxicology, 13, 575-584.
- 75. Aller P, Rould MA, Hogg M, Wallace SS and Doublie, S. (2007) A structural rationale for stalling of a replicative DNA polymerase at the most common oxidative thymine lesion, thymine glycol. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 104, 814-818.
- 76. Dolinnaya NG, Kubareva EA, Romanova EA., Trikin RM. and Oretskaya TS. (2013) Thymidine glycol: The effect on DNA molecular structure and enzymatic processing. Biochimie, 95, 134-147.
- 77. Dianov GL, Thybo T, Dianova II, Lipinski LJ, Bohr VA. 2000. Single nucleotide patch base excision repair is the major pathway for removal of thymine glycol from DNA in human cell extracts. J Biol Chem. 275(16):11809-13.
- Demple B, and Linn S. (1982). On the recognition and cleavage mechanism of Escherichia coli endodeoxyribonuclease V, a possible DNA repair enzyme. J. Biol. Chem. 257, 2848– 2855.
- 79. Marenstein DR, Ocampo MT. A Chan, MK, Altamirano A, Basu AK, Boorstein RJ, Cunningham RP and Teebor GW. (2001) J. Biol. Chem. 276, 21242–21249.
- 80. San Filippo J, et al. (2008) Mechanism of eukaryotic homologous recombination. Annu Rev Biochem 77:229-57.

- Mary Ellen Moynahan & Maria Jasin. Mitotic homologous recombination maintains genomic stability and suppresses tumorigenesis. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology 11, 196-207 (March 2010)
- 82. Lieber MR. The mechanism of double-strand DNA break repair by the nonhomologous DNA end-joining pathway. Annu Rev Biochem. 2010; 79:181-211.
- 83. McVey M1, Lee SE. MMEJ repair of double-strand breaks (director's cut): deleted sequences and alternative endings. Trends Genet. 2008 Nov;24(11):529-38.
- Brandon J Lamarche, Nicole I Orazio, and Matthew D Weitzman. The MRN complex in Double-Strand Break Repair and Telomere Maintenance. FEBS Lett. 2010 September 10; 584(17): 3682–3695.
- 85. Harper JW1, Elledge SJ. The DNA damage response: ten years after. Mol Cell. 2007 Dec 14; 28(5):739-45.
- Uziel T, Lerenthal Y, Moyal L, Andegeko Y, Mittelman L, Shiloh Y. Requirement of the MRN complex for ATM activation by DNA damage. EMBO J. 2003 Oct 15;22(20):5612-21.
- 87. Rouse J, Jackson SP. Interfaces between the detection, signaling, and repair of DNA damage. Science. 2002 Jul 26; 297(5581):547-51.
- Kruhlak M, Crouch EE, Orlov M, Montaño C, Gorski SA, Nussenzweig A, Misteli T, Phair RD, Casellas R. The ATM repair pathway inhibits RNA polymerase I transcription in response to chromosome breaks. Nature, 447 (2007), pp. 730–734.
- Shanbhag NM, Rafalska-Metcalf I.U, Balane-Bolivar C, Janicki SM, Greenberg RA. ATM-dependent chromatin changes silence transcription incis to DNA double-strand breaks. Cell, 141 (2010), pp. 970–981.
- Mimitou EP, Symington LS. DNA end resection: many nucleases make light work. DNA Repair (Amst). 2009; 8:983–95.
- 91. Huertas P. DNA resection in eukaryotes: deciding how to fix the break. Nat Struct Mol Biol.2010; 17:11–6.
- 92. Petrini JH, Stracker TH. The cellular response to DNA double-strand breaks: defining the sensors and mediators. Trends Cell Biol. 2003; 13:458–62.
- Taylor EM, Cecillon SM, Bonis A, Chapman JR, Povirk LF, Lindsay HD. The Mre11/Rad50/Nbs1 complex functions in resection-based DNA end joining in Xenopus laevis. Nucleic Acids Res. 2010; 38:441–54.
- 94. Rass E, Grabarz A, Plo I, Gautier J, Bertrand P, Lopez BS. Role of Mre11 in chromosomal nonhomologous end joining in mammalian cells. Nat Struct Mol Biol. 2009; 16:819–24
- 95. Xie A, Kwok A, Scully R. Role of mammalian Mre11 in classical and alternative nonhomologous end joining. Nat Struct Mol Biol. 2009; 16:814–8.

- 96. Dinkelmann M, Spehalski E, Stoneham T, Buis J, Wu Y, Sekiguchi JM, Ferguson DO. Multiple functions of MRN in end-joining pathways during isotype class switching. Nat Struct Mol Biol.2009; 16:808–13.
- 97. Zha S, Boboila C, Alt FW. Mre11: roles in DNA repair beyond homologous recombination. Nat Struct Mol Biol. 2009; 16:798–800.
- Kim JS, Krasieva TB, Kurumizaka H, Chen DJ, Taylor AM, Yokomori K. Independent and sequential recruitment of NHEJ and HR factors to DNA damage sites in mammalian cells. J Cell Biol. 2005; 170:341–7.
- Buis, T. Stoneham, E. Spehalski, D.O. FergusonMre11 regulates CtIP-dependent doublestrand break repair by interaction with CDK2. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol., 19 (2012), pp. 246– 252.
- 100. You Z, Bailis JM. DNA damage and decisions: CtIP coordinates DNA repair and cell cycle checkpoints. Trends Cell Biol. 2010; 20:402–9.
- Jazayeri A, Falck J, Lukas C, Bartek J, Smith GC, Lukas J, Jackson SP. ATM- and cell cycle dependent regulation of ATR in response to DNA double-strand breaks. Nat Cell Biol. 2006;8:37–45.
- 102. Aylon Y, Liefshitz B, Kupiec M. The CDK regulates repair of double-strand breaks by homologous recombination during the cell cycle. EMBO J. 2004; 23:4868–75.
- 103. Ira G, et al. DNA end resection, homologous recombination and DNA damage checkpoint activation require CDK1. Nature. 2004; 431:1011–7.
- 104. Dynan WS, Yoo S. Interaction of Ku protein and DNA-dependent protein kinase catalytic subunit with nucleic acids. Nucleic Acids Res. 1998; 26:1551–9.
- 105. Uziel T, Lerenthal Y, Moyal L, Andegeko Y, Mittelman L. and Shiloh Y.(2003) Requirement of the MRN complex for ATM activation by DNA damage.EMBO J. 22, 5612–5621.
- 106. Huen MS. et al. RNF8 transduces the DNA-damage signal via histone ubiquitylation and checkpoint protein assembly. Cell 131, 901–914 (2007).
- 107. Kolas NK. et al. Orchestration of the DNA-damage response by the RNF8 ubiquitin ligase. Science 318, 1637–1640 (2007).
- 108. Mailand N. et al. RNF8 ubiquitylates histones at DNA double-strand breaks and promotes assembly of repair proteins. Cell 131, 887–900 (2007).
- 109. Pellegrini M. et al. Autophosphorylation at serine 1987 is dispensable for murine Atm activation in vivo. Nature 443, 222–225 (2006).
- 110. Hamer G. et al. Ataxia telangiectasia mutated expression and activation of the testis. Biol. Reprod. 70, 1206–1212 (2004).

- 111. Williams RS. et al. (2009) Nbs1 flexibly tethers Ctp1 and Mre11-Rad50 to coordinate DNA double-strand break processing and repair. Cell 139, 87–99.
- 112. Xiao chun Yu and Junjie Chen. DNA Damage-Induced Cell Cycle Checkpoint Control Requires CtIP, a Phosphorylation-Dependent Binding Partner of BRCA1 C-Terminal Domains. Mol Cell Biol. 2004 Nov; 24(21): 9478–9486.
- 113. Limbo O, Chahwan C, Yamada Y, de Bruin RA, Wittenberg C and Russell P. (2007) Ctp1 is a cell-cycle-regulated protein that functions with Mre11 complex to control double-strand break repair by homologous recombination. Mol. Cell 28, 134–146.
- 114. Sartori AA. et al. (2007) Human CtIP promotes DNA end resection. Nature450, 509-514.
- 115. Kim JS, Krasieva TB, Kurumizaka H, Chen DJ, Taylor AM, Yokomori K. Independent and sequential recruitment of NHEJ and HR factors to DNA damage sites in mammalian cells. J Cell Biol. 2005; 170:341–7.
- 116. Anthony J. Davis1, David J. Chen.DNA double strand break repair via non-homologous end-joining Transl Cancer Res. 2013 Jun; 2(3): 130–143.
- 117. Critchlow SE, Jackson SP. DNA end-joining: from yeast to man. Trends Biochem Sci. 1998 Oct; 23(10):394-8.
- 118. Critchlow SE, Bowater RP, Jackson SP. Mammalian DNA double-strand break repair protein XRCC4 interacts with DNA ligase IV. Curr Biol. 1997 Aug 1;7(8):588-98.
- 119. Hentges P, Ahnesorg P, Pitcher RS, Bruce CK, Kysela B, Green AJ, et al. Evolutionaryand functional conservation of the DNA non-homologous end-joining protein XLF/Cernunnos. J Biol Chem 2006;281:37517–26.
- 120. Stuart L. Rulten,1 Anna E.O. Fisher,1 Isabelle Robert,2 Maria C. Zuma,1 Michele Rouleau,3 Limei Ju,1 Guy Poirier,3 Bernardo Reina-San-Martin,2 and Keith W. Caldecott. PARP-3 and APLF Function Together to Accelerate Nonhomologous End-Joining. Molecular Cell Mol Cell. 2011 Jan 7; 41(1):33-45.
- 121. Ross Chapman J,Martin R.G. Taylor, and Simon J. Boulton Playing the End Game: DNA Double-Strand Break Repair Pathway Choice. Mol Cell. 2012 Aug 24;47(4):497-510.
- 122. Reid DA, Keegan S, Leo-Macias A, Watanabe G, Strande NT, Chang HH, Oksuz BA, Fenyo D, Lieber MR, Ramsden DA, Rothenberg E. Organization and dynamics of the nonhomologous end-joining machinery during DNA double-strand break repair. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2015 May 19;112(20):E2575-84.
- 123. Walker J R, Corpina RA, Goldberg J. (2001) Structure of the Ku heterodimer bound to DNA and its implications for double-strand break repair. Nature. 2001 Aug 9;412 (6847):607-14. Nature 412, 607–614.
- 124. Victoria L. Fell, Caroline Schild-Poulter. The Ku heterodimer: Function in DNA repair and beyond. Mutation Research 763 (2015) 15–29.

- 125. Smith GC, Jackson SP, The DNA-dependent protein kinase, Genes Dev. 13 (1999) 916–934.
- 126. Calsou P, Frit P, Humbert O, Muller C, Chen DJ, Salles B, The DNA-dependent protein kinase catalytic activity regulates DNA end processing by means of Ku entry into DNA, J. Biol. Chem. 274 (1999) 7848–7856.
- 127. Weterings E, Verkaik NS, Bruggenwirth HT, Hoeijmakers JH, van Gent DC, The role of DNA dependent protein kinase in synapsis of DNA ends, Nucleic Acids Res. 31 (2003) 7238–7246.
- 128. Ding Q, Reddy YV, Wang W, Woods T, Douglas P, Ramsden DA, S.P. Lees-Miller, K. Meek. Autophosphorylation of the catalytic subunit of the DNA-dependent protein kinase is required for efficient end processing during DNA double-strand break repair, Mol. Cell Biol. 23 (2003) 5836–5848.
- 129. Sutherland BM, Bennett PV, Sutherland JC, Laval J. Clustered DNA damages induced by X-rays in human cells, Radiat. Res 157(2002) 611–616.
- Nikjoo H, O'Neill P, Wilson WE, Goodhead DT. Computational approach for determining the spectrum of DNA damage induced byionizing radiation, Radiat. Res 156 (2001) 577– 583.
- 131. Mohapatra S, Steven M. Yannone, Suk-Hee Lee, Robert A. Hromas, KonstantinAkopiants, Vijay Menon, Dale A. Ramsden, and Lawrence F. Povirk. 2013. Trimming ofDamaged 3' overhangs of DNA Double-strand Breaks by the Metnase and Artemis Endonucleases. DNA Repair 12 (6):422-32.
- 132. Ahel I, Rass U, El-Khamisy SF, Katyal S, Clements PM, McKinnon PJ, Caldecott KW, West SC. The neurodegenerative disease protein aprataxin resolves abortive DNA ligation intermediates. Nature 443(7112):713-6
- 133. Kanno H, Kuzuoka S, Sasao Z, Homng L, Lan S, Nakajima A, Yasui. A novel human AP endonuclease with conserved zinc-finger-like motifs involved in DNA strand break responses. EMBO J., 26 (2007), pp. 2094–2103.
- 134. Ka Cheong Lee, Kay Padget, Hannah Curtis, Ian G. Cowell, Davide Moiani et al. MRE11 facilitates the removal of human topoisomerase II complexes from genomic DNA. Biol Open. 2012 Sep 15; 1(9): 863–873.
- Khanna KK, Jackson SP, 2001. DNA double-strandbreaks: signaling, repair and the cancer connection. Nat Genet 27: 247–254
- 136. Vivek Srivastava, Priyanka Modi, Vivek Tripathi, Richa Mudgal, Siddharth De and Sagar Sengupta. BLM helicase stimulates the ATPase and chromatin remodeling activities of RAD54. Journal of Cell Science 122, 3093-3103.
- 137. Yano K, Chen DJ. Live cell imaging of XLF and XRCC4 reveals a novel view of protein assembly in the non-homologous end-joining pathway. Cell Cycle 2008;7: 1321–5.

- 138. Michal Hammel, Martial Rey, Yaping Yu, Rajam S. Mani, Scott Classen, Mona Liu, Michael E. Pique, Shujuan Fang, Brandi L. Mahaney, Michael Weinfeld, David C. Schriemer, Susan P. Lees-Miller, and John A. Tainer HE. The XRCC4 Protein Interactions with XRCC4-like Factor (XLF)Create an Extended Grooved Scaffold for DNA Ligation and Double Strand Break Repair. Journal of biological chemistry vol. 286, no. 37, pp. 32638–32650.
- 139. Grundy GJ, Rulten SL, Zeng Z, et al. APLF promotes the assembly and activity of nonhomologous end joining protein complexes. EMBO J 2013;32:112-25.
- 140. Macrae CJ, McCulloch RD, Ylanko J, et al. APLF (C2orf13) facilitates nonhomologous end-joining and undergoes ATM-dependent hyperphosphorylation following ionizing radiation. DNA Repair (Amst) 2008;7:292-302.
- Lieber MR Y, Ma U, Pannicke K, Schwarz. The mechanism of vertebrate nonhomologous DNA end joining and its role in V(D)J recombination, DNA Repair (Amst) 3 (2004) 817– 826.
- 142. Reynolds P, Anderson JA, Harper JV, et al. The dynamics of Ku70/80 and DNA-PKcs at DSBs induced by ionizing radiation is dependent on the complexity of damage. Nucleic Acids Res 2012;40:10821-31.
- 143. Yano K, Morotomi-Yano K, Adachi N, Akiyama H. Molecular mechanism of protein assembly on DNA double-strand breaks in the non-homologous end-joining pathway. J Radiat Res. 2009;50:97–108.
- 144. Pierce AJ, Hu P, Han M, Ellis N, Jasin M. Ku DNA end-binding protein modulates homologous repair of double-strand breaks in mammalian cells, Genes Dev. 15 (2001) 3237–3242.
- 145. Uematsu N, Weterings E, Yano K, Morotomi-Yano K, Jakob B, Taucher-Scholz G, Mari PO, van Gent DC, Chen BP, Chen DJ. Autophosphorylation of DNA-PKCS regulates its dynamics at DNA double-strand breaks. J Cell Biol. 2007;177:219–229.
- 146. Cary R, Peterson S, Wang J, Bear D, Bradbury E, Chen D. DNA looping by Ku and the DNA-dependent protein kinase. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 1997;94:4267–4272.
- 147. de Vries E, van Driel W, Bergsma WG, Arnberg AC, van der Vliet PC. HeLa nuclear protein recognizing DNA termini and translocating on DNA forming a regular DNA-multimeric protein complex. J Mol Biol. 1989;208:65–78.
- 148. Britton S, Coates J, Jackson SP. A new method for high-resolution imaging of Ku foci to decipher mechanisms of DNA double-strand break repair. J Cell Biol. 2013;202:579–595.
- 149. Lieber MR. The mechanism of human nonhomologous DNA end joining. J Biol Chem. 2008; 283:1–5.
- 150. Costantini S, Woodbine L, Andreoli L, et al. Interaction of the Ku heterodimer with the DNA ligase IV/Xrcc4 complex and its regulation by DNA-PK. DNA Repair (Amst) 2007;6:712–22.

- 151. Nick McElhinny SA, Snowden CM, McCarville J, et al. Ku recruits the XRCC4-ligase IV complex to DNA ends. Mol Cell Biol. 2000;20:2996–3003. [PMC free article] [PubMed]
- 152. Yano K, Morotomi-Yano K, Wang SY, et al. Ku recruits XLF to DNA double-strand breaks. EMBO Rep. 2008;9:91–6. [PMC free article] [PubMed]
- 153. Kanno S, Kuzuoka H, Sasao S, et al. A novel human AP endonuclease with conserved zinc-finger-like motifs involved in DNA strand break responses. EMBO J. 2007;26:2094– 103. [PMC free article] [PubMed]
- 154. Yaneva M, Kowalewski T, Lieber MR. Interaction of DNA-dependent protein kinase with DNA and with Ku: biochemical and atomic-force microscopy. EMBO J. 1997; 16:5098–112.
- 155. Chen L, Trujillo K, Sung P, Tomkinson AE. Interactions of the DNA ligase IVXRCC4 complex with DNA ends and the DNA-dependent protein kinase. J. Biol. Chem. 2000; 275:26196–205.
- 156. Gottlieb T, Jackson S. The DNA-dependent protein kinase: requirement for DNA ends and association with Ku antigen. Cell. 1993; 72:131–142.
- 157. D.W. Chan, R. Ye, C.J. Veillette, S.P. Lees-Miller, DNA-dependent protein kinase phosphorylation sites in Ku 70/80 heterodimer, Biochemistry 38 (1999) 1819–1828.
- 158. Yano K, Morotomi-Yano K, Lee KJ, et al. Functional significance of the interaction with Ku in DNA double-strand break recognition of XLF. FEBS Lett. 2011; 585:841–6.
- 159. Shao Z, Davis AJ, Fattah KR, So S, Sun J, Lee KJ, Harrison L, Yang J, Chen DJ. Persistently bound Ku at DNA ends attenuates DNA end resection and homologous recombination. DNA Repair (Amst) 2012;11:310–316.
- Weterings E, van Gent DC. The mechanism of non-homologous end-joining: a synopsis of synapsis. DNA Repair (Amst) 2004;3:1425–1435. [29] DeFazio LG, Stansel RM, Griffith JD, Chu G. Synapsis of DNA ends by DNA-dependent protein kinase. EMBO J. 2002;21:3192–3200.
- 161. Soutoglou E, Dorn JF, Sengupta K, Jasin M, Nussenzweig A, Ried T, Danuser G, Misteli T. Positional stability of single double-strand breaks in mammalian cells. Nat Cell Biol. 2007;9:675–682.
- 162. Sun J, Lee KJ, Davis AJ, Chen DJ. Human Ku70/80 protein blocks exonuclease 1-mediated DNA resection in the presence of human Mre11 or Mre11/Rad50 protein complex. J Biol Chem. 2012;287:4936–4945.
- 163. Britton S, Coates J, Jackson SP. A new method for high-resolution imaging of Ku foci to decipher mechanisms of DNA double-strand break repair. J Cell Biol. 2013;202:579–595.
- 164. Pace P, Mosedale G, Hodskinson MR, Rosado IV, Sivasubramaniam M, Patel KJ. Ku70 corrupts DNA repair in the absence of the Fanconi anemia pathway. Science. 2010;329:219–223

- 165. Patel AG, Sarkaria JN, Kaufmann SH. Nonhomologous end joining drives poly(ADPribose) polymerase (PARP) inhibitor lethality in homologous recombination-deficient cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108:3406–3411.
- 166. Hartley KO, Gell D, Smith GC, Zhang H, Divecha N, Connelly MA, Admon A, Lees-Miller SP, Anderson CW, Jackson SP. DNA-dependent protein kinase catalytic subunit: a relative of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and the ataxia telangiectasia gene product, Cell 82 (1995) 849–856.
- Poltoratsky VP, Shi X, York JD, Lieber MR, Carter TH. Human DNA-activated protein kinase (DNA-PK) is homologous to phosphatidylinositol kinases, J. Immunol 155 (1995) 4529–4533.
- 168. Hunter T. When is a lipid kinase not a lipid kinase? When it is a protein kinase, Cell 83 (1995) 1–4.
- 169. C.Y. Chiu, R.B. Cary, D.J. Chen, S.R. Peterson, P.L. Stewart, Cryo-EM imaging of the catalytic subunit of the DNA-dependent protein kinase, J. Mol. Biol 284 (1998) 1075– 1081.
- 170. Stewart PL, Cary RB, Peterson SR, Chiu CY, Digitally collected cryo-electron micrographs for single particle reconstruction, Microsc.Res. Tech 49 (2000) 224–232.
- 171. Leuther KK, Hammarsten O, Kornberg RD, Chu G. Structure of DNA-dependent protein kinase: implications for its regulation by DNA, EMBO J 18 (1999) 1114–1123,
- 172. Bosotti R, Isacchi A , Sonnhammer EL. FAT: a novel domain in PIK-related kinases, Trends Biochem. Sci 25 (2000) 225–227.
- 173. Perry J, Kleckner N. The ATRs, ATMs, and TORs are giant HEAT repeat proteins, Cell 112 (2003) 151–155.
- 174. Chan D, Ye R, Veillette C, Lees-Miller S. DNA-dependent protein kinase phosphorylation sitesin Ku 70/80 heterodimer. Biochemistry. 1999; 38:1819–1828.
- 175. Douglas P, Gupta S, Morrice N, Meek K, Lees-Miller SP. DNA-PK-dependent phosphorylation Ku70/80 is not required for non-homologous end joining. DNA Repair (Amst). 2005; 4:1006–1018.
- 176. Leber R, Wise TW, Mizuta R, Meek K. The XRCC4 gene product is a target for and interactswith the DNA-dependent protein kinase. J Biol Chem. 1998; 273:1794–1801
- 177. Yu Y, Wang W, Ding Q, Ye R, Chen D, Merkle D, Schriemer D, Meek K, Lees-Miller SP.DNA-PK phosphorylation sites in XRCC4 are not required for survival after radiation or forV(D)J recombination. DNA Repair (Amst). 2003; 2:1239–1252.
- 178. Wang YG, Nnakwe C, Lane WS, Modesti M, Frank KM. Phosphorylation and regulation of DNA ligase IV stability by DNA-dependent protein kinase. J Biol Chem. 2004; 279:37282–37290.

- 179. Yu Y, Mahaney BL, Yano K, Ye R, Fang S, Douglas P, Chen DJ, Lees-Miller SP. DNA-PK andATM phosphorylation sites in XLF/Cernunnos are not required for repair of DNA double strandbreaks. DNA Repair (Amst). 2008; 7:1680–1692.
- 180. Zha S, Jiang W, Fujiwara Y, Patel H, Goff PH, Brush JW, Dubois RL and Alt FW. (2011b). Ataxia telangiectasia-mutated protein and DNA-dependentprotein kinase have complementary V(D)J recombination functions. Proc.Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 108, 2028– 2033.
- 181. Gapud EJ, Dorsett Y, Yin B, Callen E, Bredemeyer A, Mahowald GK, Omi KQ, Walker, LM, Bednarski JJ, McKinnon PJ, et al. (2011). Ataxiatelangiectasia mutated (Atm) and DNA-PKcs kinases have overlapping activitiesduring chromosomal signal joint formation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 108, 2022–2027.
- 182. Calle´ n, E., Jankovic, M., Wong, N., Zha, S., Chen, H.T., Difilippantonio, S., Di Virgilio, M., Heidkamp, G., Alt, F.W., Nussenzweig, A., and Nussenzweig, M.(2009). Essential role for DNA-PKcs in DNA double-strand break repair and apoptosis in ATM-deficient lymphocytes. Mol. Cell 34, 285–297.
- 183. Hammarsten O, Chu G. DNA-dependent protein kinase: DNA binding and activation in the absence of Ku. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998; 95:525–530.
- 184. West RB, Yaneva M, Lieber MR. Productive and nonproductive complexes of Ku and DNA dependentprotein kinase at DNA termini. Mol Cell Biol. 1998; 18:5908–5920.
- 185. Meek K., Dang V and Lees-Miller SP. (2008). DNA-PK: the means to justify the ends? Adv. Immunol. 99, 33–58.
- 186. Mahaney BL, Hammel M, Meek K, Tainer JA and Lees-Miller S.P.(2013). XRCC4 and XLF form long helical protein filaments suitable for DNA end protection and alignment to facilitate DNA double strand break repair. Biochem. Cell Biol. 91, 31–41
- 187. Davis A.J, Chen B.P and Chen DJ. (2014). DNA-PK: a dynamic enzyme in a versatile DSB repair pathway. DNA Repair (Amst.) 17, 21–29.
- 188. Dobbs TA, Tainer JA, and Lees-Miller, S.P. (2010). A structural model for regulation of NHEJ by DNA-PKcs autophosphorylation. DNA Repair (Amst.) 9, 1307–1314.
- 189. Lee BS, Gapud EJ, Zhang S, Dorsett Y, Bredemeyer A, George R, Callen E, Daniel JA, Osipovich O, Oltz EM et al. (2013). Functional intersection of ATM and DNA-PKcs in coding end joining during V(D)J recombination. Mol. Cell. Biol. 33, 3568–3579.
- 190. Galloway AM, Spencer CA, Anderson CW, Allalunis-Turner MJ. Differential stability of the DNA-activated protein kinase catalytic subunit mRNA in human glioma cells, Oncogene 18 (1999) 1361–1368.
- 191. Anderson C, Dunn JJ, Freimuth PI, Galloway AM, Allalunis-Turner MJ. Frameshift mutation in PRKDC, the gene for DNAPKcs, in the DNA repair-defective, human, gliomaderived cell lineM059J, Radiat. Res 156 (2001) 2–9.

- 192. Lees-Miller SP, Godbout R, Chan DW, Weinfeld M, Day III RS, Barron GM, Allalunis-Turner J, Absence of p350 subunit of DNA activated protein kinase from a radiosensitive human cell line, Science 267 (1995) 1183–1185.
- 193. Hoppe BS, Jensen RB, Kirchgessner CU. Complementation of the radiosensitive M059J cell line, Radiat. Res 153 (2000) 125–130.
- 194. Grawunder U, Wilm M, Wu X, Kulesza P, Wilson TE, Mann M, Lieber MR. Activity of DNA ligase IV stimulated by complex formation with XRCC4 protein in mammalian cells, Nature 388 (1997)492–495.
- 195. Lee KJ, Huang J, Takeda Y, Dynan WS, DNA ligase IV and XRCC4 form a stable mixed tetramer that functions synergistically with other repair factors in a cell-free end-joining system, J. Biol.Chem 275 (2000) 34787–34796.
- 196. Modesti M, Hesse JE, Gellert M. DNA binding of XRCC4 protein is associated with V(D)J recombination but not with stimulation of DNA ligase IV activity, EMBO J 18 (1999) 2008–2018.
- 197. Hsu HL, Yannone SM, Chen DJ. Defining interactions between, DNA-PK and ligase IV/XRCC4, DNA Repair (Amst.) 1 (2002) 225–235.
- 198. K.N. Mahajan, S.A. Nick McElhinny, B.S. Mitchell, D.A. Ramsden, Association of DNA polymerase mu (pol mu) with Ku and ligase IV: role for pol mu in end-joining double-strand break repair, Mol. Cell. Biol 22 (2002) 5194–5202.
- 199. Hammel M, Yu Y, Fang S, et al. XLF regulates filament architecture of the XRCC4.ligase IV complex. Structure2010;18:1431-42.67.
- 200. Hammel M, Rey M, Yu Y, et al. XRCC4 protein interactions with XRCC4-like factor (XLF) create an extended grooved scaffold for DNA ligation and doublestrand break repair. J Biol Chem 2011;286:32638-50.
- 201. Andres SN, Vergnes A, Ristic D, et al. A humanXRCC4-XLF complex bridges DNA. Nucleic Acids Res 2012;40:1868-78.
- 202. Andres, S. N., Modesti, M., Tsai, C. J., Chu, G., and Junop, M. S. (2007) Crystal Structure of Human XLF: A Twist in Nonhomologous DNA End-Joining. Mol. Cell 28, 1093–1101
- Junop MS, Modesti M, Guarne A, Ghirlando R, Gellert M, and Yang W. (2000) Crystal structure of the Xrcc4 DNA repair protein and implications for end joining. EMBO J. 19, 5962–5970.
- 204. Ellenberger T. , A.E. Tomkinson, Eukaryotic DNA ligases: structural and func-tional insights, Annu. Rev. Biochem. 77 (2008) 313–338.
- 205. Gu J, Lu H, Tippin B, Shimazaki N, Goodman MF, Lieber MR. XRCC4:DNA ligase IV can ligate incompatible DNA ends and can ligate across gaps. EMBO J. 2007; 26:1010–1023.

- 206. Sibanda BL, Critchlow S E, Begun J, Pei XY, Jackson SP., Blundell TL, Pellegrini L. (2001) Nat. Struct. Biol. 8, 1015–1019
- 207. Wu PY, Frit P, Meesala S, Dauvillier S, Modesti M, Andres SN, Huang Y, Sekiguch J, Calsou P, Salles B, Junop MS. (2009) Mol Biol. Cell 29, 3163–3172., which occurs in the cytoplasm.
- 208. Bryans M, Valenzano MC, Stamato T D. (1999) Absence of DNA ligase IV protein in XR-1 cells: evidence for stabilization by XRCC4. Mutat. Res. 433:53–58.
- Herrmann G, Lindahl T, Schar P. (1998) Saccharomyces cerevisiae LIF1: a function involved in DNA double-strand break repair related to mammalian XRCC4. EMBO J. 17:4188–4198.
- 210. Buck D, Malivert L, de Chasseval R, Barraud A, Fondaneche MC, Sanal O, Plebani A, Stephan JL, Hufnagel M, le Deist F, Fischer A, Durandy A, de Villartay JP, Revy P. Cernunnos, a novel nonhomologous end-joining factor, is mutated in human immunodeficiency with microcephaly.Cell.2006; 124:287–299.
- Lu H, Pannicke U, Schwarz K, Lieber MR. Length-dependent binding of humanXLF to DNAand stimulation of XRCC4.DNA ligase IV activity. J Biol Chem. 2007; 282:11155– 11162.
- 212. Tsai CJ, Kim SA, Chu G. Cernunnos/XLF promotes the ligation of mismatched and noncohesive DNA ends. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007; 104:7851–7856.
- 213. Ahnesorg P, Smith P, Jackson SP. XLF interacts with the XRCC4-DNA ligase IV complex topromote DNA nonhomologous end-joining. Cell. 2006; 124:301–313.
- J. Drouet, C. Delteil, J. Lefrancois, P. Concannon, B. Salles, P. Calsou, DNA-dependent protein kinase and XRCC4-DNA ligase IV mobilization in the cellin response to DNA double strand breaks, J. Biol. Chem. 280 (2005) 7060–7069.
- 215. Wu PY, Frit P, Malivert L, Revy P, Biard D, Salles B, Calsou P. Interplaybetween Cernunnos-XLF and nonhomologous end-joining proteins at DNAends in the cell, J. Biol. Chem. 282 (2007) 31937–31943.
- 216. Cottarel J, Frit P, Bombarde O, Salles B, Negrel A, Bernard S, Jeggo PA, Lieber MR, Modesti M, Calsou P. A noncatalytic function of the ligation complexduring nonhomologous end joining, J. Cell Biol. 200 (2013) 173–186.
- 217. Budman J, Kim SA, Chu G, Processing of DNA for nonhomologous end-joiningis controlled by kinase activity and XRCC4/ligase IV, J. Biol. Chem. 282 (2007)11950– 11959.
- 218. Malu S, De Ioannes P, Kozlov M, Greene M, Francis D, Hanna M, Pena J, Escalante CR, Kurosawa A, Erdjument-Bromage H. Artemis C-terminalregion facilitates V(D)J recombination through its interactions with DNA LigaseIV and DNA-PKcs, J. Exp. Med. 209 (2012) 955–963.

- 219. Koch CA, Agyei R, Galicia S, Metalnikov P, O'Donnell P, Starostine A, Wein-feld M, Durocher D. Xrcc4 physically links DNA end processing by polynucleotidekinase to DNA ligation by DNA ligase IV, EMBO J. 23 (2004) 3874–3885.
- Chistiakov DA, Voronova NV, Chistiakov AP. Ligase IV syndrome, Eur. J. Med.Genet. 52 (2009) 373–378.
- 221. "Entrez Gene: NHEJ1 nonhomologous end-joining factor 1"
- 222. Callebaut I, Malivert L, Fischer A, Mornon JP, Revy P, de Villartay JP (2006) Cernunnos interacts with the XRCC4 x DNA–ligase IV complex and is homologous to the yeast nonhomologous end-joining factor Nej1. J Biol Chem 281: 13857–13860.
- 223. Andres SN, Modesti M, Tsai CJ, Chu G, Junop MS (December 2007). "Crystal structure of human XLF: a twist in nonhomologous DNA end-joining". Mol. Cell 28 (6): 1093–101.
- 224. Roy S, Andres SN, Vergnes A, Neal JA, Xu Y, Yu Y, Lees-Miller SP, Junop M, Modesti M, Meek K. XRCC4's interaction with XLF is required for coding (but not signal) end joining Nucleic Acids Res., 40 (2012), pp. 1684–1694.
- 225. Riballo E, Woodbine L, Stiff T, Walker SA, Goodarzi AA, Jeggo PA. (2009) Nucleic Acids Res. 37, 482–492.
- 226. Zha S, Alt FW, Cheng HL, Brush JW, Li G. Defective DNA repair and increased genomic instability in Cernunnos-XLF-deficient murine ES cells Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., 104 (2007), pp. 4518–4523.
- 227. Dai Y, Kysela B, Hanakahi LA, Manolis K, Riballo E, Stumm M, et al. Nonhomologous end joining and V(D)J recombination require an additional factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2003;100: 2462–7.
- 228. Branzei, D., Foiani, M., 2008. Regulation of DNA repair throughout the cell cycle. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 9, 297–308.
- 229. Lee HC, Wei Y.H. 2007. Oxidative stress, mitochondrial DNA mutation, and apoptosis in aging. Exp. Biol. Med. 232, 592–606.
- 230. Chen, D., Lan, J., Pei, W., Chen, J., 2000. Detection of DNA base-excision repair activity for oxidative lesions in adult rat brain mitochondria. J. Neurosci. Res. 61, 225–236.
- 231. Hegde ML, Hazra TK, Mitra S (2008). Early steps in the DNA base excision/single-strand interruption repair pathway in mammalian cells. Cell Res. 18, 27–47.
- 232. Hegde ML, Hegde P.M, Holthauzen, LMF, Hazra LK, Rao KSJ, Mitra S. 2010. Specificinhibition of NEIL-initiated repair of oxidized base damage in human genome by copper and iron: potential etiological linkage to neurodegenerative diseases. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 28812–28825.
- 233. Mitra S, Boldogh I, Izumi T, Hazra TK, 2001. Complexities of the DNA base excision repair pathway for repair of oxidative DNA damage. Environ. Mol. Mutagen. 38, 180–190.

- 234. Masson M, Niedergang C, Schreiber V, Muller S, Menissier-De Murcia J, De Murcia G. XRCC1 is specifically associated with poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase and negatively regulates its activity following DNA damage. Mol Cell Biol (1998) 18:3563–71.
- 235. Dianova II, Sleeth KM, Allinson SL, Parsons JL, Breslin C, Caldecott KW, et al. XRCC1-DNA polymerase beta interaction is required for efficient base excision repair. Nucleic Acids Res (2004) 32:2550–5.
- 236. Nazarkina ZK, Khodyreva SN, Marsin S, Lavrik OI, Radicella JP.. XRCC1 interactions with base excision repair DNA intermediates. DNA Repair (Amst) (2007) 6:254–64.
- 237. Odell ID, Barbour JE, Murphy DL, Della-Maria JA, Sweasy JB, Tomkinson AE, et al. Nucleosome disruption by DNA ligase III-XRCC1 promotes efficient base excision repair. Mol Cell Biol (2011) 31:4623–32.
- 238. Campalans A, Kortulewski T, Amouroux R, Menoni H, Vermeulen W, Radicella JP.. Distinct spatiotemporal patterns and PARP dependence of XRCC1 recruitment to singlestrand break and base excision repair. Nucleic Acids Res (2013) 41:3115–29.
- 239. Hendrich B, Hardeland U, Ng HH, Jiricny J, Bird A.. The thymine glycosylase MBD4 can bind to the product of deamination at methylated CpG sites. Nature (1999) 401:301–4.
- 240. Otterlei M, Warbrick E, Nagelhus TA, Haug T, Slupphaug G, Akbari M, et al. Postreplicative base excision repair in replication foci. EMBO J (1999) 18:3834–44.
- 241. Slupska MM, Baikalov C, Luther WM, Chiang JH, Wei YF, Miller JH.. Cloning and sequencing a human homolog (hMYH) of the Escherichia coli mutY gene whose function is required for the repair of oxidative DNA damage. J Bacteriol (1996) 178:3885–92.
- 242. Aburatani H, Hippo Y, Ishida T, Takashima R, Matsuba C, Kodama T, et al. Cloning and characterization of mammalian 8-hydroxyguanine-specific DNA glycosylase/apurinic, apyrimidinic lyase, a functional mutM homologue. Cancer Res (1997) 57:2151–6.
- 243. Aspinwall R, Rothwell DG, Roldan-Arjona T, Anselmino C, Ward CJ, Cheadle JP, et al. Cloning and characterization of a functional human homolog of Escherichia coli endonuclease III. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (1997) 94:109–14.
- 244. Hilbert TP, Chaung W, Boorstein RJ, Cunningham RP, Teebor GW.. Cloning and expression of the cDNA encoding the human homologue of the DNA repair enzyme, Escherichia coli endonuclease III. J Biol Chem (1997) 272:6733–40.
- 245. Chakravarti D, Ibeanu GC, Tano K, Mitra S.. Cloning and expression in Escherichia coli of a human cDNA encoding the DNA repair protein N-methylpurine-DNA glycosylase. J Biol Chem (1991) 266:15710–5.
- O'Connor TR, Laval J.. Human cDNA expressing a functional DNA glycosylase excising 3-methyladenine and 7-methylguanine. Biochem Biophys Res Commun (1991) 176:1170-7.

- 247. Yu SL, Lee SK, Johnson RE, Prakash L, Prakash S.. The stalling of transcription at abasic sites is highly mutagenic. Mol Cell Biol (2003) 23:382–8.
- 248. Tornaletti S, Maeda LS, Hanawalt PC.. Transcription arrest at an abasic site in the transcribed strand of template DNA. Chem Res Toxicol (2006) 19:1215–20.
- Chen DS, Herman T, Demple B.. Two distinct human DNA diesterases that hydrolyze 3'blocking deoxyribose fragments from oxidized DNA. Nucleic Acids Res (1991) 19:5907-14.
- 250. Winters TA, Henner WD, Russell PS, Mccullough A, Jorgensen TJ. Removal of 3'phosphoglycolate from DNA strand-break damage in an oligonucleotide substrate by recombinant human apurinic/apyrimidinic endonuclease 1. Nucleic Acids Res (1994) 22:1866–73.
- 251. Kulkarni A, McNeill, DR, Gleichmann M, Mattson MP, Wilson III DM. XRCC1 protects against the lethality of induced oxidative DNA damage in nondividing neural cells. Nucleic Acids Res. 36, 5111–5121.
- 252. Pena-Diaz J, Bregenhorn S, Ghodgaonkar M, Follonier C, Artola-Borán M, Castor D, Lopes M, Sartori AA., Jiricny J, 2012. Noncanonical mismatch repair as a source of genomic instability in human cells. Mol. Cell 47, 669–680.
- 253. Chappell C, Hanakahi LA, Karimi-Busheri F, Weinfeld M, West SC. Involvement of human polynucleotide kinase in double-strand break repair by non-homologous end joining. Embo J 2002; 21:2827–2832.
- 254. Beard WA, Prasad R, Wilson SH. Activities and mechanism of DNA polymerase beta. Methods Enzymol (2006) 408:91–107.
- 255. Robertson AB, Klungland A, Rognes T, Leiros I.. DNA repair in mammalian cells: base excision repair: the long and short of it. Cell Mol Life Sci (2009) 66:981–93.
- 256. Asagoshi K, Tano K, Chastain PD, II, Adachi N, Sonoda E, Kikuchi K, et al. FEN1 functions in long patch base excision repair under conditions of oxidative stress in vertebrate cells. Mol Cancer Res (2010) 8:204–15.
- 257. Sleeth KM, Robson RL, Dianov GL.. Exchangeability of mammalian DNA ligases between base excision repair pathways. Biochemistry (2004) 43:12924–30.
- 258. Lindahl, T. and Wood, R.D. 1999. Quality control by DNA repair Science. 2861897–1905.
- 259. Ikeda S, Biswas T, Roy R, Izumi T, Boldogh I, Kurosky A, Sarker AH, Seki S, Mitra S. 1998. Purification and characterization of human NTH1, a homolog of Escherichia coli endonuclease III—direct identification of Lys-212 as the active nucleophilic residue. J. Biol. Chem.27321585–21593.
- 260. Ali MM, Hazra TK, Hong D, Kow Y.W. 2005. Action of human endonucleases III and VIII upon DNA-containing tandem dihydrouracil. DNA Repair.(4):679–686.

- 261. Parsons JL, Dianova II, Dianov GL. 2005. APE1-dependent repair of DNA single-strand breaks containing 3'-end 8-oxoguanine. Nucleic Acids Res.(33):2204–2209.
- 262. Ikeda S, Biswas T, Roy, R., Izumi T, Boldogh I, Kurosky A, Sarker, AH, Seki S, Mitra S. 1998. Purification and characterization of human NTH1, a homolog of Escherichia coli endonuclease III—direct identification of Lys-212 as the active nucleophilic residue. J. Biol.Chem. (273) : 21585–21593.
- 263. Hatahet Z, Kow YW, Purmal AA, Cunningham RP, Wallace SS. 1994. New substrates for old enzymes. 5-Hydroxy-2'-deoxycytidine and 5-hydroxy-2'-deoxyuridine are substrates for Escherichia coli endonuclease III and formamidopyrimidine DNA N-glycosylase, while 5hydroxy-2'-deoxyuridine is a substrate for uracil DNA N-glycosylase. J Biol Chem. 269(29):18814-20.
- 264. Dizdaroglu M, Laval J, Boiteux S. 1993. Substrate specificity of the Escherichia coli endonuclease III: excision of thymine- and cytosine-derived lesions in DNA produced by radiation-generated free radicals. Biochemistry. 32(45):12105-11.
- 265. Budworth H. and Dianov GL. (2003) Mode of inhibition of short-patch base excision repair by thymine glycol within clustered DNA lesions. J. Biol. Chem., 278, 9378–9381.
- 266. Rui-Zhe Zhou, Luis Blanco, Miguel Garcia-Diaz, Katarzyna Bebenek, Thomas A. Kunkel and Lawrence F. Povirk. Tolerance for 8-oxoguanine but not thymine glycol in alignmentbased gap filling of partially complementary double-strand break ends by DNA polymerase λ in human nuclear extracts Nucleic Acids Research, 2008, Vol. 36, No. 9 2895–2905.
- 267. Lomax ME, Folkes LK, P. O'Neill. Biological Consequences of Radiation-induced DNA Damage: Relevance to Radiotherapy. Clinical OncologyVolume 25, Issue 10, October 2013, Pages 578–585.
- 268. Lomax ME, Gulston MK, P. O'Neill Chemical aspects of clustered DNA damage induction by ionising radiation Radiat Prot Dosimetry, 99 (2002), pp. 63–68.
- 269. Chun JT, Sunny AK, and Gilbert C. Cernunnos XLF promotes the ligation of mismatched and noncohesive DNA ends. PNAS May 8, 2007 vol. 104 no. 19 7851–7856.
- 270. Clark JM, Joyce CM, Beardsley GP. Novel blunt-end addition reactions catalyzed by DNA polymerase I of Escherichia coli. J Mol Biol. 1987 Nov 5;198(1):123-7.
- 271. Maritha Mendel-Hartvig, Anil Kumar and Ulf Landegren. Ligase-mediated construction of branched DNA strands: a novel DNA joining activity catalyzed by T4 DNA ligase: Nucleic Acids Research, 2004, Vol. 32.
- 272. Parsons JL, Zharkov DO, Dianov GL. NEIL1 excises 3' end proximal oxidative DNA lesions resistant to cleavage by NTH1 and OGG1. Nucleic Acids Res. 2005 Aug 29;33(15):4849-56.